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MISSION  

Italferr is the Ferrovie dello Stato Italiane group’s engineering company with over 30 years of consolidated experience 

in large infrastructural projects for traditional and high-speed railways, underground and road transport and the design 

of ports and stations in Italy and abroad.  

Its mission is to build infrastructure in accordance with high quality standards, deadlines and the budget, covering all 

technical and management activities for the planning, design, execution, inspection and commissioning of the works. 

Italferr offers innovative, high-tech services ranging from design to contracting, works management and supervision, 

inspection and commissioning of lines, stations and intermodal and interport hubs, project management, organisational 

consultancy, training and the transfer of specialised, avant-garde know-how. 

  



Italferr S.p.A. 

 

2016 Annual Report                                                                                                                              4 

 

 

COMPANY OFFICERS 

Board of directors: (*)  

Chairman  Riccardo Maria Monti 

CEO Carlo Carganico 

Director Elisabetta Scosceria 

  

Board of statutory auditors:  

Chairwoman Ines Russo 

Standing statutory auditor Giuseppe Farneti 

Standing statutory auditor Lelio Fornabaio 

Alternate statutory auditor Silvana Amadori 

 Alternate statutory auditor Guglielmo Marengo 

  

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS   

KPMG S.p.A. (engagement assigned by Italferr’s shareholders on 16 December 2014 for the 2014-2016 three-year 

period) 

 

 

(*) Appointed on 27 July 2016  



Italferr S.p.A. 

 

2016 Annual Report                                                                                                                              5 

 

 

Contents

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN 7 

Directors' report 8 

Key and glossary 9 

2016 results 11 

Main events of the year 12 

Human resources 15 

The environment 17 

Customers 18 

Macroeconomic context 19 

Market performance 22 

Performance of operations and financial position 26 

Risk factors 31 

Investments 32 

Performance of subsidiaries 33 

Treasury shares 34 

Related party transactions 34 

Other information 34 

Outlook 36 

Proposed allocation of the profit for the year 37 

Financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 38 

Financial statements 39 

Statement of financial position 40 

Income statement 41 

Statement of comprehensive income 42 

Statement of changes in equity 43 

Statement of cash flows 44 

Notes to the financial statements 45 

1: Introduction 45 

2: Basis of preparation 45 

3: Accounting policies 46 

4: New standards 55 

5: Financial risk management 60 

6: Property, plant and equipment 66 

7: Intangible assets 67 



Italferr S.p.A. 

 

2016 Annual Report                                                                                                                              6 

 

 

8: Deferred tax assets and liabilit ies 68 

9: Equity investments 69 

10: Current and non-current financial assets 70 

11: Other current and non-current assets 70 

12: Construction contracts 71 

13: Current trade receivables 72 

14: Cash and cash equivalents 73 

15: Tax assets 74 

16: Equity 74 

17: Post-employment benefits and other employee benefits 75 

18: Provisions for risks and charges 77 

19: Other current and non-current liabilit ies 78 

20: Current trade payables 79 

21: Tax liabilit ies 79 

22: Current and non-current financial liabilit ies (including derivatives) 80 

23: Revenue from sales and services 80 

24: Other income 80 

25: Personnel expense 81 

26: Raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods 82 

27: Services 82 

28: Use of third-party assets 83 

29: Other operating costs 83 

30: Amortisation and depreciation 84 

31: Impairment losses/(reversals of impairment losses) 84 

32: Financial income 84 

33: Financial expense 85 

34: Income taxes 85 

35: Contingent assets and liabilit ies 86 

36: Independent auditors' fees 87 

37: Directors' and statutory auditors' fees 87 

38: Management and coordination 88 

39: Related parties 88 

40: Guarantees and commitments 91 

41: Events after the reporting period 92 

42: Proposed allocation of the profit for the year 92 



Italferr S.p.A. 

 

2016 Annual Report                                                                                                                              7 

 

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN  

Dear Shareholder,  

Italferr performed well in the year just ended, fully achieving - even exceeding - the financial and performance targets 

in its budget.  

Revenue from the company’s core services grew by a total of 4% on 2015, as its international business continued to 

expand and business with FS Italiane group remained substantially steady, while non-group revenue generated on the 

domestic market fell. 

Although the geopolitical context is still particularly complex, with the cost of oil and raw materials low and the global 

threat of terrorism, production on the international market grew (revenue +23% on 2015) thanks to the prestigious 

contracts, like those in Iran, India, Qatar and Uzbekistan, acquired in the year. These new contracts have ensured the 

diversification of Italferr’s backlog into more profitable areas and led to more comprehensive risk management. 

Intragroup revenue has remained steady (+1% on 2015) as publicly funded infrastructural investments have recovered 

under the 2016 Stability Act, the “Get Italy Moving” decree and the flexibility clause approved by the European Union.  

Finally, the company had forecast the drop in revenue in the non-captive Italian market and, accordingly, is not 

particularly concerned since in 2015 this market enjoyed exceptional growth because of the works supervision contract 

that Italferr acquired for EXPO2015. 

To bolster international growth and consolidate it, Italferr has driven sales activities and international relationships on 

one hand, while on the other, it has continued developing its resources to expand the internal expertise needed to 

ensure that the company can compete in the complex global context. 

While the company’s efforts for these initiatives reduced the gross operating profit, in the light of the targets set and 

the results achieved, it proved to be a factor for success. 

2016 was a positive year in terms of the net financial position as well, as the company strengthened its financial 

structure as it significantly contained invested capital.  

Finally, the year just ended lays the groundwork for the company’s ambitious ten-year plan, which provides for 

considerable expansion in size and an overall 76% increase in revenue over the ten years covered by the plan, with 

international business more than doubling. Italferr is poised to face new, complex challenges, and the path it has taken 

so far bears witness to the company’s ability and expertise in achieving its targets in the short and long term.  
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KEY AND GLOSSARY 

NON-GAAP PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Below is a description of the criteria used to determine the most frequently used non-GAAP performance indicators in 

this report, which differ from the criteria applied to the financial statements and which management finds useful in 

monitoring the company’s and the group’s performance and believes reflect the results of operations and financial 

trends of its business segments:   

 Gross operating profit: this is an indicator of the performance of operations and reflects the company’s core 

business only. It is calculated as the difference between revenue and operating costs, as shown in the reclassified 

statement of financial position and the reclassified income statement. 

 Operating profit: this is an indicator of the performance of operations and is calculated as the algebraic sum of 

gross operating profit and amortisation and depreciation, write-downs, impairment losses (reversals of impairment 

losses) and provisions. 

 Net operating working capital: this is the algebraic sum of inventories, construction contracts, current and non-

current trade receivables and current and non-current trade payables. 

 Other assets, net: these reflect the sum of receivables and advances from the Ministry of the Economy and Finance 

for grants, deferred tax assets, other current and non-current assets and other current and non-current liabilities. 

 Working capital: this is the sum of net operating working capital and other assets, net. 

 Net non-current assets: these reflect the sum of property, plant and equipment, investment property, intangible 

assets and equity investments. 

 Other provisions: these reflect the sum of post-employment benefits and other employee benefits, the tax 

provision, the bilateral fund for income assistance, the provision for litigation with employees and third parties, the 

provisions for other sundry risks and deferred tax liabilities. 

 Net invested capital (NIC): this is the algebraic sum of working capital, net non-current assets, other provisions 

and net assets held for sale. 

 Net financial debt (NFD): this is a financial indicator calculated as the algebraic sum of bonds, non-current bank 

loans and borrowings and the current portion thereof, current bank loans and borrowings, current and non-current 

loans and borrowings from other financial backers, financial assets with the Ministry of the Economy and Finance 

for current fifteen-year grants, cash and cash equivalents and current and non-current loan assets. 

 Equity (E): this is a financial statements indicator calculated as the sum of share capital, reserves, retained earnings 

(losses carried forward), current and non-current derivative liabilities and the profit (loss) for the year. 

 Gross operating profit margin: this profitability indicator is calculated as the ratio of gross operating profit to 

operating revenue. 

 Operating profit margin – ROS (return on sales): this sales profitability indicator is calculated as the ratio of 

operating profit to revenue. 
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 ROE (return on equity): this is a profitability indicator for equity and is calculated as the ratio of profit (loss) for 

the year and average equity, using the average of opening equity (including of the profit (loss) for the previous 

year) and closing equity (net of the profit (loss) for the year). 

 ROI (return on investment): this is a profitability indicator for invested capital through core business operations. 

It is calculated as the ratio of operating profit to average NIC (the average of opening and closing NIC). 

 NAT (net asset turnover): this is an efficiency indicator that expresses invested capital’s ability to transform into 

sales revenue. It is calculated as the ratio of operating revenue to average NIC (the average of opening and closing 

NIC). 

 

GLOSSARY 

The following terms are frequently used in relation to the group’s operations: 

 HS/HC: High speed/High capacity. This is the system of lines and means specifically developed for high speed 

transport and the consequent high capacity transport. 

 B.I.M. (Building Information Modelling): this is a complete digital model of a project, which in the initial stages 

describes the infrastructure to be build and follows its progressive development to construction. 
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2016 RESULTS  

In 2016, the company overpeformed the original targets set in the budget for the year, although its results were slight 

down on the previous year.  

However, 2015 results were boosted by the completion of significant and highly profitable contracts received from RFI 

in that year. 

The net financial position was substantially up on 31 December 2015 and the 2016 budget. This improvement was due 

to both growth in revenue (+17% in revenue from FS Italiane group and +27% from third parties) and related 

collections. 

The main performance indicators are illustrated below and compared to the previous year. 

 

 

 

ROE ROI Operating
profit margin

GOP margin

2016

2015

2016 2015

ROE RN/Equity* 17% 23%

ROI OP/NIC* 48% 48%

OPERATING PROFIT MARGIN OP/REV 10% 12%

GOP MARGIN EBITDA/RIC 13% 15%

NET ASSET TURNOVER (NAT) REV/NIC* 4.89 3.97

FINANCIAL DEBT NFD/E n.v. n.v.

KEY

GOPM: Gross operating profit margin

E: Equity

REV: Revenue

P: Profit for the year

OP: Operating profit

NFD: Net financial debt

NIC*: Average net invested capital (opening and closing NIC) 

E*: Average equity (opening and closing equity) net of the profit for the year
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MAIN EVENTS OF THE YEAR 

THE NEW 2017-2026 BUSINESS PLAN 

On 13 September 2016, FS Italiane’s board of directors approved the group’s 2017-2026 business plan.  

The ambitious revenue and profit targets in the group’s ten-year plan were also influenced by Italferr’s business plan, 

which provides for growth in revenue at an average rate of 6% per year and the tripling of the profit for the year.  

More specifically, the company’s plan focuses on three of the five strategic areas outlined at group level, providing for 

the development of specific initiatives to enable it to achieve the established growth targets. 

Italferr has chosen to focus on the following three strategic areas: 

 International development: to increase production volumes abroad, Italferr’s business plan includes the acquisition 

or establishment of subsidiaries in countries where demand is high because they have planned ambitious 

investments in infrastructure but are difficult for non-resident to penetrate.  

The countries that Italferr has identified on the basis of these criteria are the US, Turkey and ASEAN countries. At 

the same time, based on an agreement signed in late November 2015 with ANESRIF (the Algerian government’s 

rail development agency), is pursuing a process to set up an Italian-Algerian company in Algeria; 

 Digitalisation: to cut operating costs and improve the quality of products offered and its competitiveness on the 

market, Italferr is pursuing the development of B.I.M. with the aim of progressively extending it to all its operating 

personnel.  

Indeed, B.I.M. is an innovative, avant-garde process encompassing all stages of a public works project: from design 

to construction, maintenance and management. In this way, it cuts design and construction costs considerably.  

Furthermore, legislation on contracts in many countries, including in the EU, provides for the progressive 

introduction of obligations for bids to include projects developed using B.I.M.. Accordingly, the adoption and 

development of B.I.M. will make the company more competitive on the market. 

 Sustainable development: Italferr has been committed for years to safeguarding the environment and preventing 

pollution and has taken steps to exploit its know-how to extend the range of services it offers for environmental 

monitoring, quality management system certification, the preparation of noise pollution reclamation plans and 

services for hydro-geological reclamation.  

Alongside these initiatives, Italferr also plans to develop a range of services to disclose and publicise the 

archaeological activities to be submitted to the Superintendence of Cultural Heritage. 

The company has estimated the amount of time and economic impact that it expects the activities will take to achieve 

the strategic targets in the plan. It will monitor the timing and costs on a quarterly basis. 
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INTERNATIONALISATION INITIATIVES 

February 

 After it won an international tender financed by the World Bank, on 25 February 2016, Italferr signed a contract 

with the Uzbekistan railways (O’zbekiston Temir Yo’llori). Worth approximately €6 million, the roughly three-year 

contract provides for technical assistance to the railways for the electrification of the Angren - Pap route in the 

heart of Uzbekistan’s most productive region.  

April 

 On 29 April 2016, Italferr won the contract for the design and supervision of works on the Anji Khad Bridge, in 

India, worth €1.8 million. The bridge is 750 metres long, with a central span of over 260 metres, suspended above 

a hollow. The works assigned to Italferr are scheduled to take 36 months. 

May 

 On 10 May 2016, in a consortium with other leading companies in the sector, Italferr won a major contract for with 

Qatar Railways for project management consultancy services and technical assistance in work on the tram network 

in Lusail, which is 15 km away from Doha, Qatar’s capital.  

Italferr’s share of the work, worth approximately €12 million, will run for over four years and confirms Italferr’s 

presence in Qatar, renewing the company’s international success. 

 On 16 May 2016, Italferr signed a contract with the international temporary joint venture UTE CNS (Union Temporal 

de Empresas Consorcio Nuevo Sarmiento) for the “Soterramiento Sarmiento” railway engineering works. 

The project consists of rehauling a Buenos Aires railway line stretching for 36 km and provides for the laying of 

about half the line underground.  

Italferr’s contract, worth around €1 million, relates to assistance and design services to help CNS build the complete 

railway system in the project. 

September 

 Italferr, jointly with the Spanish Ayesa Ingenieriay Arquitectura and the Indian partners Consulting Engineering 

Group and Ayesa India, won the Mumbai Metropolitan Region Development Authority (MMRDA)’s call for bids for 

the development of two new Mumbai underground lines. 

The value of activities performed by Italferr amounts to roughly €7.3 million. 

The joint venture, which will work alongside MMRDA as General Consultant, will supervise, control and project 

manage all activities (design, construction and supplies) for the construction of the two underground lines.  

November 

 As part of the institutional partnership between Italy and the Republic of Congo, on 18 November 2016, before the 

Italian Ministry of Economic Development, Italferr and the Congolese Ministry of Planning and Large Works signed 

business agreements whereby Italferr will design and supervise work to modernise and strengthen the 

infrastructure and technology of the railway line connecting the Pointe Noire port with Brazzaville, the capital of 

the Republic of Congo. 
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 Italferr and the Philippine AMA Group Corporation signed on 30 November 2016 in Rome at the offices of the 

Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport a cooperation agreement to develop a railway mass transport system in 

the area between Cebu and Mandaue, one of the Philippines’ most urbanised areas. 

December 

 On 6 December 2016, Italferr, in a joint venture with the engineering company Iran Oston, signed the contract for 

the project management consultancy contract with C.D.T.I.C. (Construction and Development of Transportation 

Infrastructure Company), the department of the Iranian Ministry of Transport responsible for the construction of 

new transport infrastructure in the country. 

As part of the joint venture, Italferr has the engagement to manage and supervision the activities performed by 

the contractor who won the contract for the design and construction of the Tehran – Qom – Isfahan railway, Iran’s 

first high speed line.  

The engagement is worth a total of approximately €12 million, with Italferr’s share coming to around 75%, and 

comes in the wake of the assistance contract signed with the Iranian railways (RAI) in February to build the high-

speed Tehran – Qom – Isfahan line, demonstrating how the company has consolidated its presence in Iran.  
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HUMAN RESOURCES 

Employees 

The company began consolidating its workforce in 2016 to progressively adapt it to the new business plan.  

As illustrated in the table below, there were 22 permanent employees at year end. Through flexible forms of 

employment, such as temporary staffing, the workforce grew to a total of 92 to meet the rapidly changing requirements 

of the international market.  

Temporary staff still constitute the company’s main source of candidates to be hired under open-ended employment 

contracts and the company privileges, in the selection process, not only technical expertise, but especially the 

management and language skills that are essential for the international market. 

 

 

Following the changes shown in the table above, the average number of employees in 2016 was 1,237, as detailed 

below. 

 

 

Incoming Outgoing

Managers 62 2 (5) 1 0 (2) 60

Junior managers 621 12 (12) 22 (1) 21 642

White collars 448 39 (14) 0 (22) 3 451

Total employees 1,131 53 (31) 23 (23) 22 1,153

Seconded to FS Italiane group companies (4) 1 0 1 (3)

Seconded from other bodies and work 

experience
2 0 (2) (2) 0

Temporary staff 86 49 (43) 6 92

Freelancers 4 1 (4) (3) 1

Total flexible workers 88 51 (49) 0 0 2 90

Total 1,219 104 (80) 23 (23) 24 1,243

31.12.2016

Promotions

31.12.2015 Incoming Outgoing
Total 

changes

(average number of employees)

2016 2015 Changes

Manager 61 62 (1)

Junior managers 638 627 11

White collars 446 446 0

Total employees 1,145 1,135 10

Flexible 92 90 2

Total 1,237 1,225 12
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Relationships with trade unions  

In 2016, employee participation in strikes remained the same as in the previous year and therefore, is negligible in 

general. 

In December, FS Italiane group reached an agreement with the trade unions to renew the company contract. The new 

contract was approved in January 2017 with a referendum in which Italferr employees also participated and increases 

welfare benefits. 

Training  

In 2016, training involved about 996 company resources, for a total of approximately 14,000 hours. 

The total cost of courses in the year was €390 thousand. 

Courses covered technical and language training and updates on new contracting legislation. In addition, training 

conferences were held to give designers and works supervisors the opportunity to gain the credits required by their 

professional associations. 

As for financed training, Italferr either directly or through its parent organised training eligible for financing by the 

Fondimpresa and Fondirigenti interprofessional funds. The amount of the financing was €150 thousand. 

In addition to the training for in-house personnel, Italferr designed and held training for international customers 

including the Omani Ministry of Communications and Transport (MOCT), the Algerian ANESRIF and the Ethiopian 

railways, as well as for Italian customers (RFI and the National Council of Geologists). 

Safety training required by Legislative decree no. 81/2008 

The company offered significant training on safety in 2016, including the mandatory training of newly appointed workers’ 

safety representatives, mandatory training and refresher courses on first aid and fire prevention, training for newly 

hired employees, periodic refresher courses for prevention and protection managers and staff, training on asbestos risk 

and training on railway risks, as a prevention measure identified by employers in order to work safely in railway 

operations.  

Moreover, as it has done every year, the company complied with legislative requirements for medical check-ups (in the 

office, at sites and preventive examinations for employees travelling abroad for the first time), held emergency drills 

and provided/replaced individual protective devices for personnel who occasionally and/or regularly work at sites.  

In April 2016, the agreement with International SOS, a global leader in assistance, healthcare emergency and security 

services was extended to include a service that informs employees about to travel abroad on the health, safety and 

security conditions in their destination country and updates them for the entire time they are abroad. 

In July 2016, the company passed inspection to maintain ISO 9001, 14001 and OHSAS 18001 certification. 

In addition to certification with these standards, it received international certification from the National Examination 

Board in Occupational Safety and Health (NEBOSH), a globally recognised standard for health and safety abroad. 
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THE ENVIRONMENT 

In line with FS Italiane group strategies, Italferr is deeply committed to taking tangible steps to improve its energy 

efficiency, increasingly rationalise its use of resources and eliminate improper energy consumption.  

Italferr’s quality, environment and safety policy was updated in November 2015 and sets strategic targets based on 

eco-sustainable planning that entails minimising the emission of harmful substances, preventing pollution, recycling 

materials and preferring the use of recycled materials, reducing noise pollution and vibrations and using, wherever 

possible, more efficient forms of energy and consumables with a lower environmental impact. 

Based on these targets, Italferr develops accurate environmental analyses from the initial “design concept” to 

immediately pinpoint any critical areas and resolve them during project development.  

Also with respect to sustainable development, in order to guarantee quality, environmental protection and occupational 

health and safety in projects managed on behalf of RFI, for some time Italferr has required contractors implement an 

environmental management system. 

Implementation of the integrated management system 

During the year, the company’s certification (ISO 9001, 14001 and BS OHSAS 18001) was confirmed for the integrated 

quality, environment, health and safety management system following the third-party audits by the certification body, 

SGS, in June 2016.  

All Italferr’s projects (feasibility studies, preliminary projects, definitive projects and executive projects) are compliant 

with the procedure indicated in the integrated management system. 

The company’s ISO 14064.1 certification was confirmed with respect to its carbon footprint. 

Italferr takes the carbon footprint approach to various railway infrastructure projects and in so doing, has found that 

the main contributor to CO2 emissions during construction of works is the production of the construction materials that 

it uses (cement and steel). It is currently applying the carbon footprint method to all contracts worth more than €30 

million. 

Company targets to reduce energy consumption 

Italferr continues to work to contain energy consumption at its sites with the support of the company Energy Manager. 

In addition, following analysis of paper use, new contractual clauses have been introduced to minimise the number of 

print-outs needed for project designs.  
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CUSTOMERS 

As Italferr competes in the international market with the world’s most modern engineering companies, it has pinpointed 

certain gaps to fill and has begun working on two fronts: the first, strictly technical, front consists of the tools supporting 

its core business, i.e., the introduction of B.I.M. in the design and construction of works, while the second front, 

management, is centred around making risk analysis a part of its processes. 

B.I.M. is often required for participation in international calls for bids to design works, meaning that the adoption of the 

B.I.M. method will bring Italferr up to date with market demands and more competitive. 

Risk analysis is another tool that will improve the company’s ability to meet market demands. It is important to have a 

structure risk assessment methodology because customers often request risk assessments as part of core business 

advisory services.  

Furthermore, there are two other noteworthy advantages to introducing risk analyses in company processes: first, a 

consistent assessment of potential scenarios when contracts are being acquired leads to a clearer definition of the 

services offered, thereby reducing the potential for disputes; second, a context analysis is particularly beneficial to 

customers, as it gives them the opportunity to correct mistakes in advance before damage occurs. When risk analyses 

are used in a timely manner, they can also minimise the occurrence of problems during construction, and, consequently, 

the costs incurred by customers. This approach is referred to as risk management and, by using the results of the risk 

assessment, risk management makes it possible to compare different potential alternative strategies (political, economic 

and social) to be adopted and, as the case may be, choose the appropriate control mechanisms. 
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THE MACROECONOMIC CONTEXT 

Exposed to a series of increasing economic and political risks, the global economy showed a moderate growth trend in 

2016. This involved low inflation rates in advanced countries, weak international trade trends, geopolitical tensions 

stoked by conflicts in the Middle East and the constant threat of terrorism. 

The latest data highlight how, once again in 2016, economic activity in advanced countries has not yet been able to 

reach pre-crisis growth levels, showing an annual average increase of 1.6%.  

Furthermore, growth rates in emerging economies weakened slightly (+3.6%) compared to the previous year, reflecting 

the decline in global demand and the price decrease in raw materials. 

  

 

 

Growth in global trade was mediocre (+1.2% in 2016, compared to +2.4% in the previous year), highlighting less 

flexibility with respect to GDP.   

Following the OPEC agreement of 30 November 2016 to contain supply, oil price trends rose slightly from the minimums 

at the start of the year. Prices reached an average Brent price of USD44.9 per barrel. 

Even though it came up short compared to previous economic cycles, the US economy remained one of the most 

dynamic advanced economies with average annual growth of 1.6%. After showing slight weakness in the first two 

quarters of the year (+0.2% and +0.3% in the first and second quarters, respectively), the GDP’s growth trend was 

fairly strong (+0.8% and +0.6% in the third and fourth quarters, respectively). The increase was mainly due to domestic 

demand, particularly consumption, which benefited from the improvement in salary trends and residential investments. 

An additional short-term contribution is expected from the more expansive tax policy announced following the election 

of the new President. 

Japan’s economy outperformed expectations in 2016, slightly picking up on the previous year. This growth was mainly 

driven by domestic demand and the approval of tax incentives by government authorities. Consumption remained at 

International trade data 2015 2016 

(% change on previous year)

GDP

World 3.1 2.8

Advanced countries 2.0 1.6

US 2.6 1.6

Japan 0.6 0.8

Eurozone 1.9 1.7

Emerging countries 3.7 3.6

China 6.9 6.7

India 7.3 6.9

Latin America -0.2 -0.7

Oil (Brent price in USD per barrel) 53.0 44.9

International trade 2.4 1.2

Source: Prometeia, December 2016
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slightly disappointing levels, growing 0.3%, as did investments. Despite monetary policy incentives, inflation was very 

negative (-0.3%). 

Economic progress in emerging countries was stunted by both external sources and domestic imbalances. Some of 

the main causes were the above-mentioned drop in overall global demand, the depreciation of local currencies due to 

the United States’ less expansive monetary policy and the negative impact of the fall in raw materials prices.  

Busy implementing many reforms, China’s economy grew once more in 2016, in line with the goals set by the 

government authorities (+6.7%). In general, growth was driven by real estate trading and greater public investments 

which balanced the ebb in exports.  

Following the severe recession of the last two years and against a problematic political backdrop, Brazil’s economy 

continued to contract in 2016. It was impacted by the drop in raw materials prices and investments, along with cuts in 

public spending.  

The economic situation in Russia appears to have stabilised. GDP dropped 0.9% (-3.7% in 2015) which, as well as by 

the fall in the price of oil, was impacted by the economic sanctions imposed by the West for the Ukrainian crisis.  

Almost all emerging economies are struggling. However, India would seem to be the exception, showing very strong 

growth in its GDP (+6.9%) against highly moderate trends in industrial production. The sudden decision by the 

government authorities towards the end of the year to eliminate large banknotes in order to fight tax evasion and 

corruption also led to a fall-off in spending. 

Economic expansion in the Eurozone was moderate, but gradually improving. Growth was driven by a slight increase 

in investments, higher consumption - thanks to the drop in energy prices and improvement in employment levels - and 

increased exports. The overall growth in GDP during the year was 1.7%, with inflation hitting low levels (0.2%) despite 

the expansive monetary conditions. 

  

 

With regard to the larger Eurozone countries, Germany’s GDP grew by 1.7% - bolstered by household consumption 

and exports - despite the drop in industrial investments - pending sounder conditions for overall demand - and real 

estate investments.  

Eurozone economic data 2015 2016 

GDP

Eurozone 1.9 1.7

Germany 1.5 1.7

France 1.2 1.2

Italy 0.6 0.9

Spain 3.2 3.2

Inflation

Eurozone 0.0 0.2

Germany 0.1 0.3

France 0.1 0.3

Italy 0.0 -0.1

Spain -0.6 -0.5

(% change on previous year)

(% change on previous year)

Source: Prometeia, December 2016
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Growth in France (1.2%), on the other hand, was below the Eurozone average due to a slump in household 

consumption and exports, despite the upturn in corporate investments.   

The political deadlock in Spain during the first ten months of the year did not adversely affect economic progress. 

Underpinned by domestic demand, the GDP grew by 3.2%, well above the Eurozone average. However, the 

unemployment rate (20.5%), while improving, remained at socially unacceptable levels, especially for young people 

where it stood at over 50%. 

 

Italy 

Positive trends in GDP, after two years of recovery (+0.2% in 2014 and +0.6% in 2015), confirm that the Italian 

economy is strengthening. Economic growth accelerated slightly in the early months of the year (+0.4%), stagnated 

once more in the second quarter (+0.1%) and then began growing again in the summer months (+0.3%) thanks to 

the positive contribution of consumption and investments. The latest figures suggest that economic activities rose 0.2% 

in the fourth quarter. 

 

 

 

These improvements are, above all, due to the revival of domestic demand (+1.3%), dampened by the less positive 

trends in foreign demand. Employment levels also performed well: thanks to incentives and the effects of the Jobs Act, 

the upwards trend in employment numbers was confirmed in December (+1.1% on an annual basis, equal to 242 

thousand people), along with the gradual drop in the unemployment rate (down to 11.6%).  

Household consumption trends also improved slightly, benefiting from the rise in available income and the improvement 

of the labour market.  

Investments were also fortified (+1.9%), promoted by tax policy measures implemented to support companies. 

Inflation saw an average annual decrease of 0.1% due to the effects of the prolonged decline in prices of raw materials 

and, especially, energy. 

GDP and main components Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

GDP 0.4 0.1 0.3 0.2

0.5 -0.2 0.4 0.1

0.4 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.1 -0.3 0.2 0.1

0.6 0.0 0.8 -0.1

construction 0.0 -0.1 -0.2 -0.5

other durable goods 1.1 0.1 1.7 0.2

-1.1 1.3 0.7 0.3

-1.2 2.1 0.1 0.7

Imports of goods and services

Exports of goods and services

Source: Prometeia, December 2016

Domestic demand

Spending by households and private not-for-profits

Public administration spending

Gross fixed investments
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MARKET PERFORMANCE 

The drop in raw materials prices and political instability in many countries affected public spending levels and partially 

inverted the trend in global demand for infrastructure investments compared to previous years. The consequent new 

geographical allocation of investments may be summarised in the following macro geographical segments. 

Europe 

As mentioned in the section above, although growth was modest, European countries’ economies benefited from the 

recovery of investments and public consumption, particularly in the Eurozone. 

Indeed, in 2016, the number of calls for bids for engineering and architectural services published in the European 

Journal grew by 10.6% on the previous year. The highest growth rates were seen in France (+30.1%), Germany 

(+21.3%) and Poland (+7.8%), while Italy posted a more modest +2.7%. 

Middle East  
The price of oil collapsed at the end of 2015, then slightly stabilised in 2016, leading most Gulf countries to suspend 

and, in some cases, cancel, a large part of planned railway infrastructure, the construction of which had been scheduled 

to begin in 2017.  

The downsizing mainly involved Saudi Arabia, Oman, the United Arab Emirates and, partly, Qatar, where investments 

were confirmed and kicked off to expand the Doha underground. 

Central Asia, Turkey and Iran  

This region is currently one of the most interesting for rail investments.  

In particular, Iran is one of the most attractive markets, although its political situation is not completely secure for 

international players.  

India  

Growth in India GDP, which is expected to continue at sustained rates in 2017, largely depends on investments in 

infrastructure.  

This explains why the Indian government has planned a sweeping investment plan in the railway sector and intends to 

expand it as it gains access to financing from the new Asian Infrastructure and Investment Bank (AIIB) whose mission 

is to support the development of Asian infrastructure. 

In addition to updating and strengthening its railway network, the country is developing urban transit systems for 

passenger traffic in large cities. 

 
US 

The North American railway network is very extensive (roughly 400 thousand km) and is technologically far inferior to 

the European network. Planned investments to update it over the next 10-15 years exceed €100 billion, entailing 

engineering services that are generally very well remunerated. 

Accordingly, the market holds highly interesting potential, although it is difficult to enter given the particularly stringent 

registration requirements and qualification processes and the preferential treatment for companies that have already 

been operating on the market.  
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Latin America 

The economic recovery in Latin America, expected in 2016, did not materialise, mainly due to the critical situations in 

Venezuela and Brazil, more than offsetting the modest growth in Chile, Peru, Colombia and Argentina. However, after 

the election of the new President Macri, Argentina saw a slow, yet steady, recovery in the economy and investments.  

Africa 

All major Sub-Saharan African countries are pushing wide-range investment programmes to narrow the gap between 

almost all of this region’s infrastructure and that of developed countries. However, while the entire continent is 

undeniably attractive, the financing needed to develop investments remains a problem for most European countries 

facing competition from China, which can offer competitive solutions in terms of investments and complete financing 

schemes.  

 

Performance of operations by geographical segment  

Italy - Captive market 

Thanks to the infrastructural investments driven by the flexibility clause in the 2016 Stability Act, RFI’s demand for 

services surged considerably. It remained Italferr’s largest customers again in 2016.  

Indeed, Italferr signed contracts totalling €259.7 million, approximately 98% of which with RFI. The value of these 

contracts is detailed by customer and service type in the table below. 

 

 
 

Moreover, at year end, negotiations began with respect to new contracts worth another €71.7 million. Roughly 42% of 

the contracts currently being finalised have already been sent to customers for their signature.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(in millions of Euros)

Consultancy Design
Works 

supervision

RFI 55.5 127.4 72.8 255.7

Fondazione FS 0.1 0.1

Trenitalia S.p.A. 1.0 2.9 3.9

Total 55.6 128.4 75.7 259.7

Customer

Service type

Total
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The bids that Italferr has submitted and is in the process of submitting, which should lead to the finalisation of contracts 

in 2017, are detailed by customer and service type in the table below. 

 
 

Italian and international non-captive market 

In 2016, Italferr acquired 31 contracts totalling €48.6 million, after bidding for 101 contracts in the year. The acquired 

contracts were in the following regions: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(in millions of Euros)

Consultancy Design
Works 

supervision

Submitted bids

RFI 4.2 13.3 11.9

Sistemi Urbani S.p.A. 0.3 0.3

FS Logistica 0.1 0.1

Total 4.6 13.3 11.9 29.8

Bids being processed

RFI 5.8 32.7 3.4 41.9

Bids being finalised 10.4 46.0 15.3 71.7

Customer

Service type

Total

(in millions of Euros)

Amount % of total

Europe 3.2 7%

Africa 6.3 13%

Latin America 2.4 5%

India 9.0 19%

Iran and Uzbekistan 14.2 29%

Middle East 13.5 28%

Total 48.6 100%

7%

13%

5%

19%

29%

28%

Europe

Africa

Latin America

India

Iran and

Uzbekistan
Middle East
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At year end, the contract backlog amounts to €70.5 million and is broken down by geographical segment as follows: 
 

 
 
 
Performance of main competitors 

Italferr competes internationally with large engineering companies: first and foremost, its Anglo-Saxon competitors are 

genuine giants, both in terms of revenue and workforce. Moreover, considering only European engineering companies, 

which were nearly all established within the scope of the railway companies in EU member states, the trend highlights 

growth in both size and revenue.  

The following table shows the revenue and average workforce of the main engineering companies with which Italferr 

competes in international markets. 

 

 

N.B. Revenue is translated at the average exchange rate of the US dollar for the relevant year 

  

(in millions of Euros)

Amount
% of 

total

Europe 8.5 12%

Africa 6.7 9%

Latin America 6.0 9%

India 8.9 13%

Turkey, Iran and Uzbekistan 13.0 18%

Middle East 27.4 39%

Total 70.5 100%

12%
9%

9%

13%

18%

39%

Europe

Africa

Latin America

India

Turkey, Iran and

Uzbekistan
Middle East

(in millions of dollars) Country
Reporting 

date
Turnover

Average 

number of 

employees

Per capital 

turnover 

US 31.12.2016 17,411 87,000 0.20

Australia 30.6.2016 4,289 24,500 0.18

UK 31.3.2016 2,804 18,416 0.15

France 31.12.2015 691 5,400 0.13

Italy 31.12.2016 190 1,223 0.16
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PERFORMANCE OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL POSITION 

To illustrate its financial position and performance, the company has prepared reclassified financial statements in 

addition to those required by the IFRS adopted by FS Italiane group. The reclassified financial statements comprise 

alternative performance indicators which differ from those directly derived from the consolidated financial statements 

and which management deems useful in monitoring the company’s performance and in presenting the financial results 

of the business.  

Reference should be made to the section “Key and glossary” for a description of the methods used to calculate these 

indicators. 

 

Reclassified income statement  

 

 

The company’s results for 2016 are better than forecasts. The income statement shows gross operating profit up 25% 

on budget forecasts, an increase that was almost entirely maintained at operating profit level (+22%) and was even 

more dramatic in the profit for the year (+49%). 

Despite this excellent performance, 2016 results were down on the previous year because, while contract profit margins 

in 2015 and 2016 are substantially similar, commercial and general costs rose. Commercial costs increased in proportion 

to the growth in volumes offered, while general costs were affected by the higher personnel expense due to leaving 

incentives.  

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 change %

Revenue 172,464 166,783 5,681 3%

Revenue from sales and services 172,286 166,376 5,910 4%

Provision for contractual risks (35) 253 (288) -114%

Other income 213 154 59 38%

Operating costs (150,126) (142,457) (7,669) 5%

Personnel expense (87,519) (84,851) (2,668) 3%

Other costs, net (62,607) (57,606) (5,001) 9%

Gross operating profit 22,338 24,326 (1,988) -8%

Amortisation and depreciation (4,197) (3,989) (208) 5%

Net impairment losses (1,369) (17) (1,352) <200%

Operating profit 16,772 20,320 (3,548) -17%

Net financial expense (519) (695) 176 -25%

Pre-tax profit 16,253 19,625 (3,372) -17%

Income taxes (8,136) (9,297) 1,161 -12%

Profit for the year 8,117 10,328 (2,211) -21%
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The individual income statement captions are analysed in detail below, along with the reasons for their balances and 

changes compared to 2015. 

Revenue from sales and services entirely refer to the engineering services that Italferr provides to group companies 

and third party customers. 

The 2016 flexibility clause drove public investments and triggered growth in demand from RFI, which remained Italferr’s 

largest customer again in 2016. 

The value of new contracts signed with RFI in 2016 was 72% higher than in 2015, while production of the year increased 

2% on the previous year. The contracts acquired in the year that most contributed to growth in production relate to 

the works funded by the “Get Italy Moving” decree, such as the definitive design of the Cancello – Frasso and Frasso – 

Vitulano sections of railway lines and the archaeological explorations of the Naples – Cancello and Cancello – Frasso 

sections on the Naples – Bari route, in addition to the revision of the definitive designs on the Bicocca – Catenanuova 

and Catenanuova – Raddusa sections of the Messina – Catania – Palermo route. 

While new contracts were acquired, other activities were completed in 2016, which included, in particular, the roll-out 

of the HS/HC Treviglio – Brescia railway line, important both in terms of its impact on production volumes in 2016 and 

because it is another step in the HS/HC Milan – Venice railway connection. 

Offsetting the trend with RFI, the rest of the Italian market declined on the previous year. However, 2015 was positively 

affected by Italferr’s works supervision for EXPO2015. 

Finally, production in the international market grew by 23% on 2015, mainly due to the completion of the contract for 

assistance to the Omani railways, the beginning of the conclusion of design activities on the Saudi Landbridge in Saudi 

Arabia and the contracts acquired in Qatar. 

Revenue from engineering services in 2016 is reported by operating segment below for the purposes of providing 

complete information.  

 

 

Personnel expense rose by 3% on the previous year.  

in thousands of Euros

Amount % of total Amount % of total Amount % 

RFI 125,634 73% 122,960 74% 2,674 2%

Other intragroup 2,727 2% 4,534 3% (1,807) -40%

Other Italian customers 3,453 2% 5,882 4% (2,429) -41%

Total Italy 131,814 77% 133,376 80% (1,562) -1%

EU countries 2,595 2% 555 0% 2,040 >200%

Non-EU countries 37,877 22% 32,445 20% 5,432 17%

Total international service 40,472 23% 33,000 20% 7,472 23%

Revenue from sales and services 172,286 100% 166,376 100% 5,910 4%

2016 2015 Changes
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This increase was due to the growth in the average number of employees (the increase in the workforce, measured in 

full-time equivalents - “FTEs” - was 16 FTEs), as well as to that in the average per capita cost resulting from the 

economic terms of the national labour agreement signed at year end and the leaving incentives mentioned previously.  

The company planned to hire new employees to meet the growth in production volumes registered in 2016, especially 

abroad. 

Personnel expense is shown in the table below compared to 2015. 

 

 

Other costs, net consist of the items shown in the table below. 

 

The total change in this caption on the previous year is almost entirely due to the increase in services. In turn, services 

were considerably affected (+€4,049 thousand, or 81% of the total change) by the rise in engineering services assigned 

to third party providers following the surge in production volumes and the change in the type of outsourced services 

(specifically: archaeological exploration for new contracts acquired in the year, which entail the use of particularly 

expensive third party services). 

 

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 changes %

Personnel expense

Employees 81,655 78,649 3,006 4%

Flexible workers 4,506 4,659 (153) -3%

Other costs 1,358 1,543 (185) -12%

Total 87,519 84,851 2,668 3%

Average FTE 

Employees (FTE) 1,131 1,117 14 1%

Flexible workers (FTE) 92 90 2 2%

Total 1,223 1,207 16 1%

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 changes %

Consumables 371 396 (25) -6%

Services 55,535 50,552 4,983 10%

Use of third-party assets 4,566 4,732 (166) -4%

Other costs 2,135 1,926 209 11%

Total 62,607 57,606 5,001 9%
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Impairment losses  

As it primarily works with countries affected by the oil crisis, Italferr saw average DSO lengthen in the year. As a 

preventive measure and considering the uncertainty that continues to characterise international markets, in keeping 

with its internal policy, the company has adjusted the allowance for impairment.  

On one hand, it increased the allowance by €1,369 thousand and, on the other, it released prior year accruals of €436 

thousand following the collection of most of the default interest invoiced to the Romanian railways, CFR. In this respect, 

to conclude a lawsuit in December 2015, CFR undertook to pay the balance due to Italferr, including default interest, 

by the end of 2016. All principal and most of the interest due were paid within the agreed due dates and the company 

is currently awaiting the residual balance of the invoiced default interest (€165 thousand), which CFR has assured 

Italferr that it will pay. 

 

Net financial expense of €519 thousand is down 25% on the previous year. 

The balance benefited from the release of the allowance for impairment of default interest as described above, the 

profit of €192 thousand distributed by the Italferr – Altinok joint venture and the net exchange rate gains of €898 

thousand due to the appreciation of the US dollar and Middle Eastern currencies. In addition to exchange rate gains, 

net financial expense includes losses on cash flow hedges generated by forward contracts in Omani rial which expired 

in 2016. The company had agreed the forward contracts in 2014 to hedge the expected currency risk on the Omani 

railway assistance contract, and the appreciation of the Omani rial from the end of 2014 on, due to the policy of pegging 

the Omani currency to the US dollar, led to the losses recognised in the year and, although to a lesser extent, in the 

previous year as well.  
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Reclassified statement of financial position  

 

 

The company’s financial position improved significantly on the previous year end. Working capital decreased by 55%, 

generating cash flows that substantially improved the net financial debt at year end. 

The high volume of contracts signed with RFI in the year led to revenue higher than production cost (revenue of €196 

million and production cost of €173 million). While revenue grew, average intragroup DSO were shortened, bringing 

trade receivables at the end of 2016 to below 2015 year-end figures. 

However, while receivables decreased, the company also reduced trade payables by similar amounts as it shortened 

the average DPO with suppliers. 

The cash flows generated by greater revenue led to cash and cash equivalents at year end of €30 million. 

As indicated in the note to net financial expense, in 2016, the last derivative hedging contracts that Italferr had agreed 

in 2014 expired. Equity stated in the reclassified statement of financial position at 31 December 2015 included the 

liabilities arising from these financial instruments. Accordingly, to more clearly present equity, the following table 

reconciles equity in the reclassified statement of financial position with equity in the statement of financial position.  

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change %

Net operating working capital 58,607 82,934 (24,327) -29%

Other assets, net (33,597) (27,700) (5,897) 21%

Working capital 25,010 55,234 (30,224) -55%

Non-current assets 27,981 29,360 (1,379) -5%

Equity investments 351 357 (6) -2%

Net non-current assets 28,332 29,716 (1,384) -5%

Post-employment benefits (29,112) (29,651) 539 -2%

Other provisions (3,241) (5,722) 2,481 -43%

Post-employment benefits and other 

provisions
(32,353) (35,374) 3,021 -9%

NET INVESTED CAPITAL 20,989 49,576 (28,587) -58%

Net current financial debt (30,478) (4,211) (26,267) >200%

Non-current net financial position (1) (1) (0) 67%

Net financial debt (30,479) (4,212) (26,267) >200%

Equity  51,468 53,788 (2,320) -4%

TOTAL COVERAGE 20,989 49,576 (28,587) -58%
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RISK FACTORS 

Italferr is exposed to operational risks due to the type of business that it conducts. Indeed, its main operational risks 

relate to design and work supervision/high surveillance activities (risks of accidents, fire and damage to third parties 

during the performance of work, environmental risks, etc.).  

To contain these risks, the company follows procedures and provides information and training in accordance with its 

legal obligations and to maintain specific certification. In addition, it has adopted a risk management model and begun, 

with the parent’s coordination, the development of an enterprise risk management (ERM) model to efficiently identify, 

assess and manage risks, based on existing Italian and international best practices. 

The project for the implementation of the intragroup ERM model is currently nearing completion. In 2016, vertical 

workshops were offered for each individual company and horizontal workshops were offered for the intragroup 

professional families to map the main strategic risks, assess them and identify measures for their mitigation.  

In addition to the nature of the company’s business, the location of its business development generates risks for Italferr. 

In other words, it is exposed to country risk. 

Because of their nature, Italferr’s services do not entail fixed investments in the countries where its customers reside.  

Even when local legislation requires a permanent establishment, the company’s policy is to opt for those with legal/tax 

flexibility enabling it to quickly fulfil local requirements for their closure soon after conclusion of the contracts.  

Therefore, the risks of political instability in the countries where the company operates relate to employee health and 

safety while they are travelling abroad and to the company’s temporary or permanent inability to continue operations, 

with a negative impact not only on the recoverability of receivables but on the order backlog as well. 

To mitigate the first type of risk, in 2015, Italferr signed an agreement with International SOS, a global leader in 

assistance and healthcare emergency services (accidents and illness) and security services to better protect employees 

involved in international activities at this delicate stage of geopolitics. 

To mitigate the risk of interruptions in operations abroad, as early as the bidding stage (when deciding to bid or not to 

bid), the company vets the countries in which it is interested in the bidding stage by including, in the initial assessment 

of business opportunities, the country’s political/social situation, even in contexts in which country risk is already an 

integral part. 

Specifically to update responsibilities and in-house activity flows relating to strategic/sales planning, the preparation, 

presentation and negotiation of bids on the foreign market, in 2016, Italferr issued an internal organisational document 

to encourage risk-based decision making. 

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change %

Equity in the reclassified statement of financial 

position
51,468 53,788 (2,320) -4%

Liabilities for derivatives recognised in equity (1,165) 1,165 -100%

Equity 51,468 52,622 (1,155) -2%



Italferr S.p.A. 

 

2016 Annual Report                                                                                                                              32 

 

Italferr has used these criteria to assemble an order backlog with maximum concentration in countries/geographical 

segments that combine significant business opportunities with country risk that is below the alert thresholds, as 

illustrated in the table below.  

The following table analyses the residual backlog of contracts acquired on the market at the end of 2016, with a 

breakdown by geographical segment and indication of the country risk. 

The company uses the “War risk” index calculated by SACE (the Italian export credit agency) for each country: to adjust 

it to the geographical segment considered, the company has calculated the average, weighted by the residual backlog, 

of SACE’s “War and civil uprising risk” indices of the countries in which Italferr operates, grouped by geographical 

segment.  

 

 
 
*  The average, weighted by the residual backlog, of SACE’s “Risk of war and civil uprising” index. 

Reference should be made to the notes for a more detailed analysis of credit, liquidity and currency risks, where they 

are reported as required by IFRS. 

 

INVESTMENTS 

The company’s investments totalled €2,386 thousand in the year. Most of these investments (€1,423 thousand) entailed 

upgrades to administrative/management and specialised software used in the company, the development of proprietary 

software for top management reporting and the acquisition and customisation of design applications available on the 

market. The latter included the investment in B.I.M., which was launched in 2016 as part of a long-term project slated 

for completion in 2020. 

B.I.M. was originally created for civil works design and Italferr aims to use it to design and build railway infrastructure 

as well.  

The full cost of the entire, five-year project, which will include the completion of a few experimental contracts, is 

estimated to be roughly €3,800 thousand, most of which for the software and its implementation in the company 

(€3,190 thousand, €173 thousand of which in 2016), while the remainder will be for training and change management 

for the technical personnel involved. 

% of residual 

portfolio
SACE index*

Italy 2% 31/100

Europe 10% 25/100

Middle East 39% 40/100

Turkey and Central Asia 18% 63/100

India 13% 51/100

Africa 9% 68/100

South America 9% 52/100

Total 100% 48/100
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In addition to investments in IT development and updates, during the year, Italferr invested €963 thousand mainly in 

new hardware as part of the ongoing updating of employees’ technical equipment (€334 thousand for work stations, 

laptop computers and printers), devices to optimise the company network (€321 thousand) and for the purchase of 

plotters, furniture and small equipment (€268 thousand). 

 

PERFORMANCE OF SUBSIDIARIES  

Italferr operates in Serbia via its local wholly-owned subsidiary Infrastructure Engineering Services (“I.E.S.”).  

The company was set up in 2012 in Belgrade and offers design services, especially structural and mechanical design, 

along with consultancy services and technical assistance. 

In 2016, I.E.S. continued supporting Italferr. Although the company was set up to acquire major licences in order to 

operate in Serbia, rapid changes in the country’s economic situation have driven I.E.S. to review its initial objectives 

and begin partnering directly with Italferr, becoming a competitively-priced production unit for its parent.  

In this context, during the year, I.E.S. worked to support Italferr in the executive design of the Saudi Landbridge and 

the definitive design of stations along the Italian section of the Turin – Lyon railway route. It also provided technical 

assistance for the design of the Doha underground, which Italferr is building in a joint venture with the Danish COWI 

and Italian Oneworks. I.E.S. used B.I.M. to complete the latter project. 

I.E.S.’s 2016 financial statements highlights are reported below, compared with prior year figures. 

 

 

 

Although production volumes outperformed forecasts and 2015, the company’s profit for the year fell short of 

expectations because, due to operating difficulties, support services provided to Italferr for the Saudi Landbridge, which 

had originally been planned for the entire year, were concentrated in June to November. This led to a loss of production 

in the first half of the year and the need to sub-contract approximately 60% of the work to other local engineering 

companies. 

Although the profit for 2016 was affected by these contingent circumstances, forecasts for 2017 are still positive but 

are lower than those posted in the past, since the main projects acquired from the parent were completed in 2016 or 

are about to be completed, and the company took a prudent approach to the 2017 budget as it is based on a backlog 

of orders that have yet to be acquired.  

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Changes

Revenue 495 486 9

Gross operating profit 77 174 (97)

Operating profit 68 163 163

Profit for the year 57 141 (84)

Invested capital 569 557 12

Net financial debt 57 20 37

Number of employees (Average FTE) 12 11 1
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Nevertheless, alongside the demand that Italferr expects to meet, Serbia is regaining the interest of engineering and 

construction companies given the infrastructure programmes that the country plans to carry out using pre-EU 

membership funding and bank financing for the country’s operational development.  

I.E.S.’s operates in Serbia are a strategic factor in exploiting Balkan market opportunities, enabling the company develop 

domestic business and not only international business. 

 

TREASURY SHARES 

The company neither owns nor sold during the year treasury shares or shares of its parent Ferrovie dello Stato S.p.A. 

directly or indirectly. 

 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Transactions between Italferr and the FS Italiane group companies and their transactions with other related parties are 

carried out correctly with respect to substance and to the parties’ mutual financial benefit on an arm’s length basis, at 

terms defined with the assistance of independent experts, when necessary. Intragroup transactions are carried out in 

the pursuit of the common goal of improving efficiency and therefore creating value for the entire FS Italiane group. 

These processes and transactions are carried out in accordance with sector regulations, the Italian Civil Code and tax 

laws, in line with the group’s and its own administrative/accounting procedures and considering the specific 

characteristics of the activities performed by many group companies.  

 

OTHER INFORMATION  

Branches  

Italferr operates in Italy with local units in Bari, Bologna, Florence, Genoa, Milan, Naples, Palermo, Reggio Calabria, 

Rome, Turin and Verona. 

The company has seven branches abroad, which are in Abu Dhabi (United Arab Emirates), Bucharest (Romania), 

Doha (Qatar), Istanbul (Turkey), Lima (Peru), Muscat (Sultanate of Oman) and San Diego (Venezuela) and four 

offices in Addis Ababa (Ethiopia), Algiers (Algeria), Riyadh (Saudi Arabia) and Tashkent (Uzbekistan). 

 

COURT PROCEEDINGS AND LITIGATION 

Introduction 

This section details the most significant criminal proceedings and general litigation and disputes (civil and administrative 

proceedings, arbitration, etc.) pending at the reporting date. Up to the date of preparation of this report, no information 

had arisen that would indicate that the company is exposed to contingent liabilities or losses of any amount, nor is any 

information known with a potentially material impact on the company’s equity, financial position or results of operations. 

Consequently, it has not recognised any provisions. Furthermore, where appropriate, the company has joined the 

criminal proceedings as a civil party claiming damages. 
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Specifically:  

 In 2016, following criminal proceedings initiated by the public prosecutors against former or current company 

representatives, there were no definitive rulings against senior management (company officers or general 

managers) for any of the following: 

- particularly serious negligent criminal acts entailing significant damage to the company or that gave rise to the 

application of restrictive measures;  

- negligent criminal acts covered by Legislative decree no. 231/2001; 

- additional negligent criminal acts covered by Law no. 190/2012. 

 The following is a summary of the civil, administrative, arbitration and other proceedings pending before the Italian 

and EU authorities that, although they do not give rise to contingent assets and liabilities or provisions, are 

considered the most material in terms of the disclosures to be included in this report. 

Litigation and significant proceedings pending with employees, third party service providers and/or contractors, the tax 

authorities, regions, etc., for which, where the relevant conditions are met, accruals have been made to specific 

provisions for risks and charges suppliers, are detailed in the notes to the financial statements, to which reference 

should be made. Similarly, contingent assets and liabilities, as defined by group policies, are reported in the notes to 

the financial statements to which reference should be made. 

CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS 

There is only one case of criminal proceedings initiated by public prosecutors against former or current company 

representatives and it regards former company representatives. 

The case relates to criminal proceedings no. 25816/10 with the general register of crimes concerning the contract 

assigned to a general contractor for the design and construction of the Florence hub HS station and bypass. With 

respect to this contract, in January 2013, the Florence Public Prosecutor’s Office notified the pro-tempore Chairman and 

pro-tempore CEO of Italferr and certain Italferr and RFI employees, as well as members of other organisations and 

companies performing the work, that they were under investigation.  

On 26 January 2015, the Florence Public Prosecutor’s Office filed a request to prosecute all the people and companies 

under investigation, including Italferr pursuant to Legislative decree no. 231/2001. 

On 10 March 2016, after the preliminary hearing, the Florence Court’s Preliminary Hearing Judge decided the case could 

not proceed against Italferr, its former CEO, former Operating Manager and Project Manager, while it admitted the 

proceedings against Italferr’s former Chairman and two officials, although it significantly reduced the scope of the 

charges.  

The Public Prosecutor appealed before the Court of Cassation against this decision and, in October 2016, the Court of 

Cassation denied all appeals concerning Italferr, its former Operating Manager and Project Manager and ordered the 

cancellation of the decision to not proceed, admitting certain allegations against Italferr’s Chairman, pro-tempore CEO 

and officials for proceedings before the Florence Court.   
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CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO LEGISLATIVE DECREE NO. 231/2001 

As reported above, criminal proceedings no. 25816/10 with the general register of crimes, which involve, among others, 

Italferr, and relate to alleged violations of Legislative decree no. 231/2001, were concluded with the judge’s decision to 

not proceed with the charges against the company, a decision that became definitive following the Court of Cassation’s 

ruling.  

 

Participation in the national tax consolidation scheme 

As Italferr meets the requirements of the Consolidated income tax code (article 117 and subsequent articles of 

Presidential decree no. 917 of 22 December 1986), it has opted to participate in the national tax consolidation scheme 

(as consolidated company) with FS Italiane (as consolidator). 

The company’s board of directors exercised this option for the 2016-2018 three-year period beginning with the 2016 

tax period. 

 

Disclosure required by article 2497-ter of the Italian Civil Code  

In 2016, the company did not make any decisions explicitly covered by article 2497-ter of the Italian Civil Code, although 

it made a number of important decisions in the spirit of fully upholding the guidelines of its only shareholder Ferrovie 

dello Stato Italiane S.p.A.. 

OUTLOOK 

Italferr performed well in 2016, with industrial margins in line with the previous year.  

Management expects to confirm the positive trend in production in 2017, although profit margins will be slightly lower 

than in the recent past, when they were bolstered by the completion of highly profitable contracts and the appreciation 

of contracts in foreign currency.  

Moreover, the scenario in which the company operates inspires prudence, as forecasts of European economic 

performance are still uncertain and indicate contained growth in production.  

The global context also continues to present certain elements of instability, such as emerging countries’ continuing 

difficulties and the cost of oil, conditioning the economy of Middle Eastern countries. 

Under these circumstances, the budget shows production for the group remaining substantially steady (+1% on 2016) 

and further growth on the international market (+7% on 2016). 

In the FS Italiane group market, Italferr may rely on demand from RFI, whose investment plan shows constant growth 

for the entire term of its 2017-2026 business plan, with investments ramping up from 2018 on. 

International market growth projections for 2017 take into account the initiatives that the company plans to take in the 

year, including the launch of the first Italian-Algerian company (with the Algerian agency ANESRIF) to better exploit 

the opportunities generated by local government’s plan to strengthen and modernise the Algerian railway network.  

Furthermore, work is underway to complete the process to open new sites in India and Iran, and a new opening is 

planned for Australia. In particular, development prospects in the Indian and Australian markets are interesting and will 

enable the company to diversify its geographical presence while reducing economic/political risks.  
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Furthermore, as volumes are expected to rise, Italferr is currently preparing an in-house reorganisation, which will 

expand the size of its internal structure to cover the new areas. 

In terms of investments, in 2017, Italferr will continue developing B.I.M. for railway infrastructure and operating 

personnel training. It expects to complete the project, which involves all operating personnel, within the first quarter of 

2021. 

Finally, although forecasts for 2017 show cash outflows, mainly due to investments, the significant cash holdings at the 

end of 2016 will enable the company to maintain net invested capital at 31 December 2017 in line with the previous 

year end and a net financial position.  

 

PROPOSED ALLOCATION OF THE PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  

The company’s financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 show a profit for the year of 

€8,117,126.26. 

We propose: 

 distributing a dividend of €7,695,905, or €542.50 to each of the 14,186 shares; 

 allocating €418,279.86 to the reserve for unrealised exchange gains to adjust the total amount of the reserve to 

cover net unrealised exchange rate gains, which amount to €644,035.86 at 31 December 2016. The reserve is 

required pursuant to article 2426.8-bis of the Italian Civil Code, which establishes that, should the translation of 

foreign currency amounts at closing rates generate a net gain, a specific non-distributable reserve must be 

recognised for the net gain until its realisation; 

 allocating the residual profit for the year, equal to €2,941.40, to the extraordinary reserve.  

 

Rome, 13 March 2017 

Board of directors 

Chairman 

 

CEO 
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Statement of financial position 

 

in Euros

Note 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Assets

Property, plant and equipment (6) 24,110,365 25,271,218

Intangible assets (7) 3,870,764 4,088,354

Deferred tax assets (8) 2,631,152 3,403,931

Equity investments (9) 350,149 356,749

Non-current financial assets (including derivatives) (10) 600 600

Other non-current assets (11) 455,972 146,612

Total non-current assets 31,419,002 33,267,464

Construction contracts (12) 112,517,237 114,556,676

Current trade receivables (13) 54,761,709 73,573,039

Current financial assets (including derivatives) (10) 22,342,905 251,064

Cash and cash equivalents (14) 8,134,756 4,786,192

Tax assets (15) 861,638 2,124,119

Other current assets (11) 7,011,886 5,353,457

Total current assets 205,630,131 200,644,547

Total assets 237,049,133 233,912,011

Equity

Share capital (16) 14,186,000 14,186,000

Reserves (16) 29,842,516 29,661,362

Valuation reserves (16) (4,271,573) (5,147,149)

Retained earnings (16) 3,593,884 3,593,884

Profit for the year (16) 8,117,126 10,328,400

Total equity 51,467,953 52,622,497

Liabilities 

Post-employment benefits and other employee benefits (17) 29,112,477 29,651,493

Provisions for risks and charges (18) 3,045,821 5,635,140

Deferred tax liabilities (8) 195,111 87,257

Other non-current liabilities (19) 0 115,016

Total non-current liabilities 32,353,409 35,488,906

Construction contracts (12) 83,479,067 61,044,809

Current trade receivables (20) 27,119,098 47,495,502

Tax liabilities (21) 0 2,699,847

Current financial liabilities (including derivatives) (22) 0 1,991,641

Other current liabilities (19) 42,629,606 32,568,809

Total current liabilities 153,227,771 145,800,608

Total liabilities 185,581,180 181,289,514

Total equity and liabilities 237,049,133 233,912,011
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Income statement 

 
  

in Euros

Note 2016 2015

Revenue from sales and services (23) 172,250,351 166,629,078

Other income (24) 213,263 153,782

Total revenue 172,463,614 166,782,860

Personnel expense (25) 87,518,976 84,850,571

Raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods (26) 370,550 395,922

Services (27) 55,535,035 50,552,259

Use of third-party assets (28) 4,566,021 4,732,054

Other operating costs (29) 2,134,875 1,926,300

Total operating costs 150,125,457 142,457,106

Amortisation and depreciation (30) 4,197,173 3,988,809

Net impairment losses (31) 1,368,845 16,528

Operating profit 16,772,139 20,320,417

Financial income (32) 2,326,243 1,443,042

Financial expense (33) 2,845,077 2,137,987

Net financial expense (518,834) (694,945)

Pre-tax profit 16,253,305 19,625,472

Income taxes (34) 8,136,179 9,297,072

Profit from continuing operations 8,117,126 10,328,400

Profit for the year 8,117,126 10,328,400
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Statement of comprehensive income 

 

 

 

 

in Euros

Note 2016 2015

Profit for the year 8,117,126 10,328,400

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss, net of the tax effect : (347,870) 834,636

Actuarial gains/(losses) (16) (457,723) 1,151,222

Tax effect (16) 109,853 (316,586)

Items that will or may be reclassified to profit or loss, net of the tax effect:  (16) 0 (640,568)

Cash flow hedges - effective portion of changes in fair value (16) (883,543)

Tax effect (16) 242,974

Other comprehensive income, net of the tax effect (347,870) 194,068

Comprehensive income 7,769,256 10,522,468
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Statement of changes in equity 

 

  

in Euros

Legal 

reserve

Extraordinary 

reserve

Other 

reserves
Fair value reserve Actuarial reserve

Balance at 1 January 2015 14,186,000 2,837,200 26,745,039 36,243 (582,877) (4,758,339) 24,277,266 3,593,884 3,802,170 45,859,320

Dividend distribution 0 (3,759,290) (3,759,290)

Allocation of profit for the previous year 677 42,203 42,880 (42,880) 0

Comprehensive income, of which: 0 0

Profit for the year 0 10,328,400 10,328,400

Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity (640,569) 834,636 194,067 0 194,067

Balance at 31 December 2015 14,186,000 2,837,200 26,745,716 78,446 (1,223,446) (3,923,703) 24,514,213 3,593,884 10,328,400 52,622,497

Dividend distribution 0 (10,147,246) (10,147,246)

Allocation of profit for the previous year 1,237 179,917 181,154 (181,154) 0

Comprehensive income, of which: 0

Profit for the year 0 8,117,126 8,117,126

Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity 1,223,446 (347,870) 875,576 875,576

Balance at 31 December 2016 14,186,000 2,837,200 26,746,953 258,363 0 (4,271,573) 25,570,943 3,593,884 8,117,126 51,467,953

Equity

Reserves

Share capital

Reserves Valuation reserves

Total reserves
Retained 

earnings
Profit for the year Total equity
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Statement of cash flows 

 

 

 

 

 

 

in Euros

Note 2016 2015

Profit for the year 8,117,126 10,328,400

Amortisation and depreciation (30) 4,197,173 3,988,809

Provisions and impairment losses (29);(31) 2,080,830 2,172,478

(Gains)/losses on disposal (24) (226)

Change in inventories (12) 2,039,440 (5,448,898)

Change in trade receivables (13) 18,811,331 (11,586,632)

Change in trade payables (21) 2,057,853 7,917,000

Change in current and deferred taxes (8);(34) 8,136,178 9,297,072

Change in other liabilities (20);(22) 7,245,934 (2,974,517)

Change in other assets (11) (1,967,790) (1,594,898)

Utilisation of the provision for risks and charges (18) (4,352,477) (273,551)

Payment of employee benefits (17) (1,314,409) (1,092,901)

Interest paid/(collected) (32);(33) 1,045,858 336,127

Taxes (paid)/collected (6,347,277) (11,173,438)

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities     39,749,544 (104,949)

Increases in:

 - property, plant and equipment (6) (962,363) (971,309)

 - intangible assets (7) (1,903,851) (2,310,188)

 - equity investments (8) (158)

Decreases in:

 - property, plant and equipment (6) 47,709 2,559

Cash flows used in investing activities (2,818,505) (3,279,096)

Change in financial assets (32);(33) 257,663 (251,064)

Change in financial liabilities (32);(33) 522,061 (522,061)

Dividends (16) (10,328,400) (3,802,170)

Interest paid (32);(33) (1,045,858) (336,127)

Change in equity (16) 181,154 42,879

Cash flows used in financing activities (10,413,380) (4,868,543)

Total cash flows generated/(used) in the year 26,517,659 (8,252,588)

Opening cash and cash equivalents 3,960,001 12,212,589

Closing cash and cash equivalents 30,477,660 3,960,001

intragroup current account: 22,342,905 (826,191)

bank current accounts: 8,134,755 4,786,192
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Notes to the financial statements  

 

1 Introduction 

Italferr S.p.A. (also referred to as the “company” and “Italferr”) is a company established and domiciled in Italy and 

organised in accordance with the laws of the Republic of Italy. Its headquarters are in Rome and it is managed and 

coordinated by Ferrovie dello Stato Italiane S.p.A.. 

The directors approved the publication of these financial statements on 13 March 2017 and they will be submitted to 

the shareholders for approval and subsequently filed within the terms of law. The shareholders have the power to 

make changes to these financial statements. 

As the company has opted to exercise its exemption from preparing the consolidated financial statements, as permitted 

by IFRS 10, it has prepared separate financial statements. Ferrovie dello Stato Italiane S.p.A., Italferr’s direct parent, 

prepares the consolidated financial statements. The parent is based at Piazza della Croce Rossa 1, Rome, where the 

consolidated financial statements are made available in accordance with the terms and methods provided for by current 

legislation. 

KPMG S.p.A. was assigned the engagement to carry out the legally-required audit of the financial statements. 

 

2 Basis of preparation  

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS (which include International Accounting 

Standards (IAS) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), endorsed by the European Union pursuant to 

EC Regulation no. 1606/2002 and in effect at the reporting date (“IFRS”). In particular, Italferr has exercised its right 

under Legislative decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005 governing the exercise of the exemptions provided for by European 

regulation no. 1606/2002 on the IFRS, which, in articles 3 and 4, allows the company to apply IFRS for the preparation 

of its separate financial statements with reporting dates on or after 31 December 2010. 

Moreover, these financial statements have been prepared according to the best knowledge of the EU-IFRS and 

considering the best doctrine in this respect. Any future guidelines and interpretative updates shall be reflected in 

subsequent years as they arise, in accordance with the methods envisaged over time by such IFRS. 

The financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the company’s functional currency, i.e. the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the company operates. All amounts included in the tables of the following 

notes, except as otherwise specified, are expressed in thousands of Euros. 

The financial statements are comprised of the statement of financial position, income statement, statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and these notes. In particular, the 

company has prepared:  

 the statement of financial position classifying assets and liabilities as current and non-current and separately 

presenting any assets/liabilities held for sale or included in disposal groups;  

 the income statement classifying costs by their nature and separately presenting, where applicable, the profit 

(loss) from continuing operations and the profit (loss) from discontinued operations; 
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 the statement of comprehensive income including the profit (loss) for the year and other changes in equity not 

due to equity transactions with owners; 

 the statement of changes in equity separately presenting the profit (loss) for the year and any other changes not 

taken through profit or loss; 

 the statement of cash flows presenting cash flows from operating activities using the indirect method. 

The annual report also includes the directors’ report accompanying the financial statements.  

These financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, as the directors established that there are 

no financial or operational indicators or any other indications of critical issues about the company’s ability to meet its 

obligations in the foreseeable future and, specifically, in the next twelve months. Reference should be made to note 5 

“Financial risk management” for a description of the company’s financial risk management procedures. 

The separate financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except where fair value 

measurement is mandatory. 

 

 

3 Accounting policies 

The main accounting policies and measurement criteria used for preparing the financial statements are shown below. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at purchase or production cost, net of accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, if any. The purchase or production cost includes any charges that are directly incurred to make 

assets available for use, as well as dismantlement and removal charges, if any, that will be incurred as a result of 

contractual obligations that require the asset to be returned to its original conditions. Any financial expense that is 

directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets is capitalised and depreciated on 

the basis of the useful life of the asset to which it refers. Leasehold improvements or costs to upgrade and transform 

property, plant and equipment are recognised under assets. 

Any charges incurred for ordinary maintenance and repairs are directly charged to profit or loss when incurred. Costs 

to expand, upgrade or improve the structural elements owned or used by third parties are capitalised when they meet 

the requirements for separate recognition as assets or as parts of an asset, applying the component approach, whereby 

a component must be accounted for separately if its useful life can be measured independently. 

Depreciation is charged on a monthly straight-line basis using rates that reflect the assets’ useful life.   

At least once a year at the reporting date, the company reviews the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and 

their residual amounts and, if necessary, adjusts them. The only costs relating to land that are depreciated are 

capitalised reclamation costs.  

The following depreciation rates and useful lives are applied: 
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Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance, that can be controlled and can 

generate future economic benefits. They are recognised at purchase and/or production cost, including any directly-

attributable expenses incurred to make the asset available for use, net of accumulated amortisation (except for 

intangible assets with a finite useful life) and impairment losses, if any. Interest expense, if any, that accrues during 

and for the development of intangible assets, is considered part of the purchase cost. Amortisation begins when the 

asset is available for use and is charged on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. Specifically, the company 

has the following main intangible assets: 

(a)  Concessions, licences and trademarks 

They are amortised on a straight-line basis over their term.  

Costs of software licences, including any expenses incurred to make the software available for use, are amortised 

on a straight-line basis over the licence term. Any costs relating to software maintenance are expensed when 

incurred.  

(b)  Industrial patents and intellectual property rights 

They are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful life.  

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset is equal to the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset. It is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognised. 

Impairment losses on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 

The company only owns assets with finite useful lives (intangible assets and property, plant and equipment). 

At each reporting date, a test is carried out to check if there is any evidence that property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets may be impaired. For this purpose, account is taken of both external and internal sources of 

information. With respect to internal sources of information, the following must be considered: the obsolescence of or 

physical wear and tear of the asset, significant changes, if any, in the use of the asset and the economic performance 

of the asset with respect to expectations. As regards external sources of information, the following must be considered: 

the trend in the market prices of the assets, any changes in technology, markets or laws, the trend in market interest 

rates or in the cost of capital used to measure investments. 

Rate Useful life

Buildings used in operations 3% 33 years

Leasehold improvements Residual lease term

Light constructions 10% 10 years

Ordinary office equipment and furniture 12% 12 years

Furnishings 15% 7 years

Machinery, devices and sundry equipment 15% 7 years

Electromechanical and electronic office equipment 40% 2.5 years

Mobile phones 40% 2.5 years

Cars, motor vehicles and similar 25% 4 years
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If any such indication exists, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset (impairment test), recognising 

the impairment loss in profit or loss. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs of 

disposal and its value in use, i.e., the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. In 

calculating value in use, the expected future cash flows are discounted using a discount rate which reflects the time 

value of money, compared to the investment period and risks specific to the asset. The recoverable amount of an asset 

that does not generate largely independent cash flows is calculated in relation to the cash generating unit to which this 

asset belongs.   

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss when the carrying amount of the asset, or of the related cash 

generating unit to which the asset is allocated, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses on cash generating 

units are first allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the goodwill, if any, allocated to the cash-generating unit and 

then, to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit and within 

the limits of the related recoverable amount. If the reasons behind the impairment loss cease to exist, the carrying 

amount of the asset is reversed in profit or loss without exceeding the carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years and had the related amortisation or 

depreciation been charged. 

Equity investments in subsidiaries, associates, jointly controlled entities and others 

Equity investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities are stated at cost, net of impairment losses. 

When impairment losses arise, they are recognised in profit or loss. If the reasons for the impairment no longer apply, 

the previously impaired amount is reinstated up to the asset’s historical cost, with the effect recognised in profit or 

loss.  

Financial instruments 

The company classifies financial assets as follows: 

 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

 loans and receivables. 

Classification is decided by management upon initial recognition. 

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

This category includes financial assets held for trading, derivatives (see the paragraph below) and assets designated 

as such upon initial recognition. Their fair value is calculated based on the reporting date bid price. The fair value of 

unquoted derivatives is calculated by applying commonly used financial valuation techniques. Fair value changes of the 

instruments included in this category are immediately recognised in profit or loss. 

Classification as current or non-current assets reflects management’s trading expectations: those that are expected to 

be realised within twelve months or designated as held for trading are included under current assets. 

(b) Loans and receivables  

These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market. 

They are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. If there is an objective evidence of impairment, their carrying amount is decreased to reflect the discounted 

value of future flows: the impairment losses identified by impairment tests are recognised in profit or loss. If, in a 
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subsequent period, the reasons behind the impairment loss cease to exist, the carrying amount of the asset is reversed 

without exceeding what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised. These assets 

are classified as current, except for the portions due after one year which are included under non-current assets. 

Classification as current or non-current assets reflects management’s trading expectations: those that are expected to 

be realised within twelve months are included under current assets. 

Derivatives 

Derivatives are considered as assets held for trading and are measured at fair value through profit or loss, unless they 

effectively hedge a specific risk underlying the company’s assets or liabilities or commitments. 

Specifically, the company uses derivatives as part of hedging strategies which mitigate the risk of fair value changes 

of recognised assets or liabilities or assets or firm commitments (fair value hedges) or changes in cash flows expected 

from firm commitments or highly probable transactions (cash flow hedges). Reference should be made to note 4 for 

information about the recognition of hedges of the currency risk on long-term contracts. 

The effectiveness of hedges is documented and tested since the inception of the transaction which is periodically (at 

least at each annual or interim reporting date) measured by comparing the fair value changes of the hedge to those 

of the hedged item (dollar offset ratio) or, with respect to more complex financial instruments, through statistical 

analyses based on risk changes. 

Fair value hedges 

Fair value changes of derivatives designated as fair value hedges and which qualify as such, are recognised in profit 

or loss, similarly to fair value changes of hedged assets or liabilities attributable to the risk hedged. 

Cash flow hedges 

Fair value gains or losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges which qualify as such, are recognised, only to 

the extent of the “effective” portion, in other comprehensive income in the hedging reserve. They are subsequently 

reclassified to profit or loss when the underlying hedged item affects profit or loss. Fair value gains or losses related 

to the ineffective portion are immediately recognised in profit or loss. Should the underlying transaction no longer be 

considered highly probable, the related portion of the “hedging reserve” is immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 

Conversely, should the derivative be sold, expire or no longer qualify as an effective hedge of the risk for which the 

transaction was created, the related portion of the “hedging reserve” is maintained until the underlying item affects 

profit or loss. Recognition of the hedge as a cash flow hedge is discontinued prospectively. 

Fair value estimate 

The fair value of instruments quoted on an active market is calculated based on the bid price at the reporting date, 

while that of instruments not quoted on an active market is determined using financial valuation techniques: specifically, 

the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated by discounting expected cash flows, while that of currency forwards 

considers closing rates and the expected differentials of the relevant currencies. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value are classified using the following three levels of the fair 

value hierarchy, based on the relevance of the inputs used to determine fair value. Specifically: 

Level 1: financial assets and financial liabilities whose fair value is calculated based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in 

active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company can access at the measurement date; 
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Level 2: financial assets and financial liabilities whose fair value is calculated based on inputs other than quoted prices 

included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 

Level 3: financial assets and financial liabilities whose fair value is calculated based on unobservable inputs for the 

asset or liability. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and available bank deposits and any other forms of short-term 

investment, with an initial maturity of three months or less. At the reporting date, current account overdrafts are 

classified in the statement of financial position as financial liabilities under current liabilities. Cash and cash equivalents 

are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Loans, trade payables and other financial liabilities 

Loans, trade payables and other financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of directly-attributable costs, 

and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, applying the effective interest method. When there is a change in 

the estimated expected cash flows, the carrying amount of the liabilities is recalculated to reflect this change on the 

basis of the present value of the new expected cash flows and of the effective internal rate as initially determined. 

Loans, trade payables and other financial liabilities are classified under current liabilities, except for those with a 

contractual term beyond twelve months after the reporting date and those for which the company has an unconditional 

right to defer their settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date. Loans, trade payables and other 

financial liabilities are derecognised when repaid and when the company has transferred all risks and charges related 

to the instrument. 

Construction contracts  

Construction contracts (or “contracts”) are recognised at the reasonably accrued contractually agreed fees in 

accordance with the percentage of completion method, considering the progress made and the expected contractual 

risks. Progress is measured by comparing the contract costs incurred at the reporting date to the total estimated costs 

for each contract.  

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of 

contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. When the outcome of a construction contract can be 

estimated reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the contract will flow to the entity, 

revenue is recognised over the term of the contract. When it is probable that total contract costs exceed total contract 

revenue, the potential loss is immediately recognised in profit or loss, regardless of the contract progress. 

Contracts are shown net of allowances, if any, losses to complete contracts and payments on account and advances 

related to the contract in progress. Differences are recognised under assets when positive, while negative differences 

are taken to the liability caption “Trade payables”. 

Employee benefits 

Short-term benefits comprise wages, salaries, related social security contributions, holidays paid and incentives paid 

out in the form of bonuses payable in the twelve months after the reporting date. These benefits are accounted for as 

personnel expense components in the period in which the employees provide their service.   

Post-employment benefits and other employee benefits 
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The company has both defined contribution and defined benefit plans in place.  

The defined contribution plans are managed by third-party fund managers, in relation to which there are no legal or 

any other obligations to pay additional contributions if the fund has no sufficient assets to meet the commitments with 

employees. With respect to the defined contribution plans, the company pays contributions, either voluntarily or as 

required by contract, into public and private insurance pension funds. Contributions are recognised as personnel 

expense on an accruals basis. Advance payments for contributions are recognised as an asset that will be repaid or 

offset against future payments, if due. 

Under defined benefit plans, the amount of the benefit to be paid to the employee can be quantified only after the 

termination of the employment relationship, and is linked to one or more factors, such as age, years of service and 

remuneration. Therefore, defined benefit obligations are determined by an independent actuary using the projected 

unit credit method.  

The present value of defined benefit plans is determined by discounting future cash flows at an interest rate equal to 

that of (high-quality corporate) bonds issued in the foreign currency in which the liability will be settled and that takes 

account of the term of the related pension plan. Actuarial gains and losses are fully recognised in profit or loss in the 

relevant year, taking account of the related deferred tax effect.  

Specifically, the company manages a defined benefit plan that consists of post-employment benefits (Italian “TFR”). 

Italian companies are required to accrue a provision pursuant to article 2120 of the Italian Civil Code, which is treated 

as deferred remuneration and is based on employees’ duration of service and the remuneration they receive during 

that time. Starting from 1 January 2007, Law no. 296 of 27 December 2006, the “2007 Finance Act” and subsequent 

decrees and regulations introduced significant amendments to TFR regulations, including the employees’ right to 

choose to transfer the TFR being accrued either to supplementary pension funds or to the “Treasury Fund” managed 

by INPS (the Italian Social Security Institute). Consequently, the obligation to INPS and the contributions paid into 

supplementary pension funds are now treated, pursuant to IAS 19 Employee benefits, as defined contribution plans, 

while the amounts recognised under post-employment benefits at 1 January 2007 are still treated as defined benefit 

plans. 

The company also has a defined benefit pension plan in place, the “Free Travel Card” (Carta di Libera Circolazione, 

CLC) that gives current and retired employees and their relatives, the right to use – free of charge or, in some cases, 

for an admission fee – the trains managed by Trenitalia. It is recognised in accordance with the above-mentioned 

actuarial techniques through a provision which reflects the discounted charge for retired employees entitled to benefits, 

and the benefits accrued for employees in force to be disbursed at the end of the employment. The Free Travel Card 

benefits and the effects arising from actuarial valuations are the same as those of post-employment benefits. 

Provisions for risks and charges 

Provisions for risks and charges are recognised for certain or probable losses and charges, whose amount and/or due 

date cannot be determined. They are recognised only when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 

as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 

to settle the obligation. This amount represents the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. 

The rate used to determine the present value of the liability reflects the current market values and takes account of 

the specific risk that can be associated to each liability. 

Where the effect of the time value of money is material and the settlement dates of obligations can be estimated 

reliably, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
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obligation. The discount rate reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.  

Risks for which a liability is only possible are disclosed in the specific section on contingent liabilities without accruing 

any provisions. 

Revenue 

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the company and these benefits 

can be measured reliably, net of returns, rebates, trade discounts and bulk discounts 

Revenue from services is recognised in profit or loss on a percentage of completion basis and only when the outcome 

of the service can be estimated reliably. 

Similarly to that described in relation to construction contracts, revenue from contract work in progress is recognised 

using the percentage of completion method. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. It is 

recognised when the company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods 

and the related costs can be measured reliably.  

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss on the basis of the effective rate of return.  

Dividends 

They are recognised in profit or loss when the shareholders’ right to receive payment thereof arises. The latter usually 

coincides with the shareholders’ resolution approving dividend distribution. 

Dividends distributed to the company’s shareholders are presented as a change in equity and recognised under liabilities 

when their distribution is approved by the shareholders.  

Cost recognition 

Costs are recognised when they relate to goods and services acquired or consumed in the year or by systematic 

allocation.  

Income taxes 

Current taxes are calculated based on estimated taxable income and in accordance with ruling tax legislation. Deferred 

tax assets, related to prior tax losses, are recognised when it is probable that future taxable income will be available 

against which these losses can be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated using the tax rates that 

are expected to be applied in the years in which the differences will be realised or settled. 

Current taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss, except for those relating to items 

recognised under other comprehensive income or directly taken to equity, in which case they are recognised separately 

under the “Tax effect” caption. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they are levied by the same tax authorities, there is a legally 

enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and a settlement on a net basis is expected.  

Taxes other than income taxes, such as indirect taxes and duties, are included in profit or loss under “Other operating 

costs”. 
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Translation of foreign currency amounts 

Any transactions in a currency other than the Euro are recognised at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the 

transaction and subsequently adjusted to the closing rate. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a 

currency other than the Euro are recognised at historical cost using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of initial 

recognition. Any exchange rate differences are taken to profit or loss. 

Use of estimates and valuations 

In preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the directors applied accounting standards and methods, 

which in some circumstances rely on valuations and estimates based on past experience and on assumptions that are 

considered to be reasonable and realistic depending on the circumstances. The actual amounts of certain financial 

statements captions calculated according to the above estimates and assumptions may differ in the future, even 

materially, from those reported in the financial statements, because of the uncertainty that characterises the 

assumptions on which the estimates are based. Accordingly, estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and 

the effects of any changes are recognised in profit or loss when they affect the year only. If the revision affects both 

current and future years, the change is recognised in the year the revision is made and in the related future years. 

The following accounting standards require the most subjectivity from the directors in the preparation of estimates and 

would have a material impact on the financial figures if there were a change in the conditions underlying the 

assumptions used: 

Impairment losses 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a finite life are tested for impairment. Impairment testing is 

conducted by checking for evidence that it will be difficult to recover an asset’s carrying amount through the use of 

the asset. Impairment tests require the directors to make subjective valuations based on the information available 

within the company and in the market, as well as from past experience. Furthermore, when a potential impairment 

loss exists, the group calculates such loss using suitable valuation techniques. The correct identification of impairment 

indicators and the estimates for calculating them depend on factors that may vary over time. 

Amortisation and depreciation 

The cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a finite useful life and of investment property is 

depreciated and amortised, respectively, over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The directors determine the 

useful lives of the group’s assets when the assets are purchased. They are based on past experience for similar assets, 

market conditions and forecasts concerning future events that may have an impact on the useful life. Therefore, the 

actual economic life may differ from the estimated useful life. The company assesses any technological and sector 

changes to update residual useful lives on a regular basis. These updates may entail a change in the amortisation and 

depreciation period and in the amortisation and depreciation rates of future years. 

Provisions for risks and charges 

Provisions are accrued against legal and tax risks which represent the risk of a negative outcome. The recognised 

provisions relating to these risks reflect the best estimate made by the directors at the reporting date. This estimate 

entails the adoption of assumptions that depend on factors which may vary over time and which may have significant 

effects compared to the current estimates. 

Taxes 
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Deferred tax assets are recognised based on the income expected in future years. These expectations depend on 

factors that may vary over time and determine significant effects on the measurement of deferred tax assets. 

Fair value of derivatives 

The fair value of derivatives that are not quoted on active markets is measured using valuation techniques. The 

company applies valuation techniques that use inputs that can be observed in the market, either directly or indirectly, 

at the reporting date, and that are connected to the assets and liabilities being measured. Even if the estimates of the 

above fair values are considered reasonable, any possible changes in the estimate factors on which the calculation of 

the aforesaid amounts is based may generate different valuations. 

Operating segments 

At the reporting date, the company does not have debt or equity instruments listed on a regulated market and is part 

of the consolidation scope of FS Italiane group, which, in accordance with IFRS 8.2.b, prepares consolidated financial 

statements including segment reporting. 
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4 New standards 

First-time adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations 

The following new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2016. 

Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee benefits  

On 21 November 2013, the IASB issued some amendments to IAS 19 – Employee benefits, named “Defined benefit 

plans: employee contributions”. The EU endorsed these documents with Regulation no. 2015/29 of 17 December 2014, 

with the aim of simplifying the accounting treatment of employees’ or third-party contributions to defined benefit plans, 

which are to be offset against the service cost.  

These amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2015. 

Application of the amendments did not have a material effect on these financial statements due to their nature. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS: 2010-2012 Cycle 

On 12 December 2013, the IASB issued the “Annual improvements to IFRS: 2010-2012 Cycle”. The EU endorsed this 

document with Regulation no. 2015/28 of 17 December 2014. The following standards were amended: 

 IFRS 2 - Share-based payment: the amendment clarifies the definition of “vesting condition”; 

 IFRS 3 - Business combinations: the amendment clarifies how to classify a contingent consideration in a business 

combination; 

 IFRS 8 - Operating segments: the amendment requires additional disclosure of the criteria and the economic 

indicators that management uses to combine operating segments;  

 IAS 24 - Related parties: the amendment modifies the definition of “related party” to include “management entities”, 

i.e., those entities which provide key management services to the reporting entity. The amendment requires 

disclosure of the costs for services paid or payable to the management entity and other transactions such as loans 

with the management entity. The amendment also clarifies that, if an entity obtains key management services from 

another entity, it is not required to state the fees paid or due by the management entity to its directors or 

employees; 

 IAS 16 and 38 - Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets: the amendments allow the use of two 

alternative models for the revaluation of assets. 

These amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2015.  

Application of the amendments did not have a material effect on these financial statements due to their nature. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 11 – Joint arrangements  

On 6 May 2014, the IASB published “Accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations (Amendments to IFRS 

11)”, which was endorsed by the European Union with Regulation no. 2173 of 24 November 2015. These amendments 

provide new guidance on the accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations that are a business combination.  

The amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Application of the amendments did 

not have a material effect on these financial statements due to their nature. 

 

Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment and IAS 38 – Intangible assets  

On 12 May 2014, the IASB issued “Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation (Amendments 

to IAS 16 and IAS 38)”. This document was endorsed by the European Union with Regulation no. 2231 of 2 December 
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2015. The amendments clarify that revenue-based methods used to calculate the depreciation/amortisation of an asset 

are not appropriate. 

These amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Application of the amendments did 

not have a material effect on these financial statements due to their nature. 

 

Amendments to IAS 27 – Separate financial statements  

On 12 August 2014, the IASB issued “Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27)”. This 

document was endorsed by the European Union with Regulation no. 2441 of 18 December 2015. The amendments 

restore the option to use the equity method, described in IAS 28, to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint 

ventures and associates in an entity’s separate financial statements. 

These amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The company has decided not to 

exercise this option.  

 

Annual Improvements to IFRS: 2012-2014 Cycle  

On 25 September 2014, the IASB issued the document “Annual Improvements to IFRS: 2012-2014 Cycle”, which was 

endorsed by the European Union with Regulation no. 2343 of 15 December 2015. The amendments introduced are 

part of the ordinary streamlining and clarification process of IFRS. They refer to the following standards:  

 IFRS 5 - Non-current assets held for sale: the amendment provides specific guidance for the reclassification of an 

asset from held for sale to held for distribution and vice versa; 

 IFRS 7 - Financial instruments: the amendment clarifies that adequate disclosure shall be given when a fee is paid 

to a vehicle servicing assets transferred; 

 IAS 19 - Employee benefits: the amendment clarifies that when a discount rate referred to a deep market (a deep 

market is a market in which a large number of assets must be transacted in order to have a material impact on the 

price of the financial instruments traded) for high quality corporate bonds is used, the market depth shall be 

assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the obligation 

is located; 

 IAS 34 - Interim financial reporting: the amendment clarifies certain aspects of disclosures required in interim 

financial reports.  

 

These amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Application of the amendments did 

not have a material effect on these financial statements due to their scope. 

 

Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements 

On 18 December 2014, the IASB issued “Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1)”. This document was endorsed 

by the European Union with Regulation no. 2406 of 18 December 2015. The amendments clarify some aspects related 

to disclosure about materiality (with respect to the financial statements as a whole); disaggregation and aggregation 

of line items; the order of the notes; and equity-accounted investees. The initiative is part of the Disclosure Initiative 

project to improve the presentation of, and disclosures in, IFRS financial statements and resolve some of the critical 

issues reported by operators. 
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These amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Application of the amendments did 

not have a material effect on these financial statements due to their nature and/or scope. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements - IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interests in other 

entities - IAS 28 – Investments in associates and joint ventures  

On 18 December 2014, the IASB issued “Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to 

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)”. The document was endorsed by the European Union with Regulation no. 1703 of 22 

September 2016. The amendment introduces some changes to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28, clarifies the requirements 

for recognition of an investment entity and provides for special exceptions. The amendments apply to annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2016.  

At present, considering the complexity of this matter, it is not yet possible to fully assess the effects that the new 

standard could have in terms of measuring financial statements captions and the related disclosure obligations.  

 

 

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS RECENTLY ENDORSED BY THE 

EUROPEAN UNION, BUT NOT YET ADOPTED 

At the preparation date, the competent bodies of the European Union have completed the endorsement process 

necessary to adopt the following standards and amendments.  

In accordance with the reporting standards applicable to the group, the company decided not to exercise the option 

for earlier adoption (when provided for). 

 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customers and amendments 

On 28 May 2014, as part of the IFRS-US GAAP convergence project, the IASB and the FASB published IFRS 15 - 

Revenue from contracts with customers, and the document was endorsed by the European Union with Regulation no. 

1905 of 22 September 2016. This standard is a unique and comprehensive framework for revenue recognition and sets 

out the provisions to be applied to all contracts with customers (except for those covered by other standards on leases, 

insurance contracts and financial instruments). IFRS 15 replaces the previous standards applicable to revenue: IAS 18 

- Revenue and IAS 11 - Construction contracts, as well as the following interpretations: IFRIC 13 - Customer loyalty 

programmes, IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the construction of real estate, IFRIC 18 - Transfers of assets from customers 

and SIC 31 - Revenue - Barter transactions involving advertising services.  

The new five-step model for revenue recognition requires that revenue be recognised upon transfer of the goods or 

services to the customer (and no longer with the substantial transfer of risks and benefits) at the consideration the 

entity expects to be entitled to (i.e., no longer at fair value). 

On 11 September 2015, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 15, postponing the coming into force of the standard 

to 1 January 2018. However, earlier application is permitted.  

In addition, it published clarifications on IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers on 12 April 2016. The new 

standard is applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.  

At present, considering the complexity of this matter, it is not yet possible to fully assess the effects that the new 

standard could have in terms of measuring financial statements captions and the related disclosure obligations. 
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IFRS 9 – Financial instruments 

On 24 July 2014, the IASB issued the definitive version of IFRS 9 - Financial instruments. This document was endorsed 

by the EU with Regulation no. 2067 of 22 November 2016. It presents the results of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 

39 and supersedes all the previous versions of IFRS 9 on classification, measurement, derecognition, impairment and 

hedge accounting.  

The key new issues introduced with respect to classification and measurement include the business model used to 

manage financial assets and liabilities and the characteristics of cash flows.  

The standard also introduces new guidance for the measurement of impairment losses (expected credit losses) and a 

new hedge accounting model.  

IFRS 9 is applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. At present, the potential impact that the 

new standard could have in terms of measuring financial statements captions is still being assessed. However, initial 

examinations show that the potential impact is negligible with respect to the measurement of the net financial position, 

comprehensive income and other equity captions.  

 

ACCOUNTING STANDADRS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ENDORSED BY THE 

EUROPEAN UNION 

At the date of preparation of these financial statements, the competent bodies of the European Union have not yet 

completed the endorsement process necessary to adopt the following accounting standards and amendments. The 

future impacts that these standards, amendments and interpretations may have on the financial position and 

performance are currently being assessed. 

 

IFRS 14 – Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

On 30 January 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 14 - Regulatory deferral accounts, an interim standard applicable to the 

rate-regulated activities project. IFRS 14 permits only entities which are first-time adopters of IFRS to continue to 

account for rate regulation balances in accordance with their previous GAAP. In order to improve comparability with 

the entities that already apply IFRS and that do not recognise these balances, the standard provides that the impact 

of rate regulation be separately presented in an entity’s financial statements. The standard is applicable to annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and earlier adoption is allowed. The European Commission suspended 

the endorsement process pending the issue of the definitive version of the standard by the IASB.  

 

Amendments to IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements and IAS 28 – Investments in associates 

and joint ventures  

On 11 September 2014, the IASB issued “Sales or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint 

venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)” to resolve an inconsistency between IAS 28 and IFRS 10 relating to 

the measurement of the gain or loss resulting from the sale or transfer of a non-monetary asset to a joint venture or 

an associate in exchange for an investment in the latter.  

However, in December 2015, the IASB issued the amendment that defers for an unlimited period of time the coming 

into force of the amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28. 
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IFRS 16 – Leases 

On 13 January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases, which replaces IAS 17. IFRS 16 is applicable to annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The new standard eliminates the different recognition of operating and finance 

leases, while containing elements that simplify its application. It also introduces the concept of control within the 

definition of a lease. In particular, in order to determine whether a contract is a lease, IFRS 16 states that a contract 

is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 

for consideration. 

Earlier application is permitted to entities that also adopt IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers. Completion 

of the due process for issue of the endorsement advice is slated for the first quarter of 2017. 

 

Amendments to IAS 12 – Income tax  

On 19 January 2016, the IASB issued some amendments to IAS 12 - Income Tax. The document, “Recognition of 

Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to IAS 12)” clarifies how to account for deferred tax assets 

on debt instruments measured at fair value. The amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2017. Earlier application is permitted. The EU endorsement is expected by the second quarter of 2017. 

  

Amendments to IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows 

On 29 January 2016, the IASB issued “Disclosure initiative (Amendments to IAS 7)”. The amendments introduce new 

disclosures to be included in financial reports for changes in assets and liabilities arising from financing activities. The 

amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The EU endorsement is expected by the 

second quarter of 2017. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 2 – Share-based payment  

On 20 June 2016, the IASB issued some amendments to IFRS 2 to clarify how to account for certain share-based 

payment transactions. The amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier 

application being permitted. The EU endorsement is expected by the second quarter of 2017.  

 

Amendments to IFRS 4 – Insurance contracts 

On 12 September 2016, the IASB issued some amendments to IFRS 4 - Insurance contracts designed to address the 

consequences of the different effective dates of IFRS 9 and IFRS 4.  

 

Annual Improvements to IFRS: 2014-2016 Cycle  

On 8 December 2016, the IASB published the Annual improvements to IFRS. 2014-2016 Cycle. The amendments are 

part of the normal rationalisation and clarification of the IFRS and covered IFRS 1 - First-time adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 12 - Disclosure of interests in other entities and IAS 28 - Investments in associates 

and joint ventures.  

 

IFRIC 22 – Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration 

On 8 December 2016, the IASB published IFRIC 22 - Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration to clarify 

the accounting for transactions that include the receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. The 

file:///C:/Users/6002210/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/Y08K66F5/Principi%20contabili%20di%20recente%20emanazione%20RFA%2012%202016%20-%2020170128.doc%23http:/www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-Projects/Debt-disclosures/Documents/Disclosure-Initiative_Amendments-to-IAS-7.pdf
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interpretation is applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application being 

permitted. The EU endorsement is expected by the second half of 2017.  

 

Amendments to IAS 40 – Investment property  

On 8 December 2016, the IASB published some amendments to IAS 40 - Investment property. They provide guidance 

on transfers to and from investment property and apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with 

earlier application being permitted. The EU endorsement is expected by the second half of 2017. 

 
 

5 Financial risk management 

The company’s activities expose it to various types of risk as a result of its use of financial instruments: 

 credit risk; 

 liquidity risk; 

 market risk, an interest risk and currency risk in particular. 

This section provides information on the company’s exposure to each of the risks listed above, the objectives, policies 

and processes for the management of these risks and the methods used to assess them, as well as capital management. 

These financial statements also include additional quantitative information. The company’s risk management focuses 

on the volatility of financial markets and is aimed at minimising, where possible, potential undesired effects on its 

financial position and results of operations. 

 

Credit risk 

The company’s total exposure to credit risk, net of the allowance for impairment, is detailed in the table below. 
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Although the overall total increased by 2% on the previous year end, the composition of credit risk highlights how the 

increase was due to the growth in captions presenting lower risk profiles (i.e., cash and current financial assets, the 

latter consisting entirely of the intragroup current account balance) while trade receivables, other receivables and 

construction contracts decreased. 78% of construction contracts relate to receivables due from the FS Italiane group 

companies which are, accordingly, low risk. 

In order to manage commercial credit risk, the company manages and analyses the risk of all new significant customers, 

continuously monitors their commercial and financial exposure and monitors the collection of receivables from the 

public administration within the contractually agreed timeframe.   

The following tables illustrate exposure to credit risk by counterparty, in both absolute amounts and percentages, 

excluding cash and cash equivalents; 

 

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Non-current financial assets (including derivatives) 1 1

Other non-current assets 456 147

Construction contracts 114,193 115,768

Allowance for impairment (1,676) (1,211)

Construction contracts net of the allowance for 

impairment
112,517 114,557

Current trade receivables 57,466 75,568

Allowance for impairment (2,705) (1,995)

Current trade receivables net of the allowance for 

impairment
54,761 73,573

Current financial assets (including derivatives) 22,343 251

Cash and cash equivalents 8,135 4,786

Other current assets 4,152 5,524

Allowance for impairment (154) (236)

Other current assets net of the allowance for impairment 3,998 5,288

Total exposure net of the allowance for impairment * 202,211 198,603

* excluding tax assets and equity investments

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Public administration, Italian government and, regions 18 537

Ordinary customers 135,734 128,101

Financial institutions 1 1

Other debtors 58,323 65,177

Total exposure net of the allowance for impairment 194,076 193,816

in thousands of Euros
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The following table shows the company’s exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2016, analysing positions by age. 

 
 

 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity may be unable to meet its payment obligations due to difficulties in raising funds 

or selling assets on the market, with a negative impact on its results and, in the most serious cases, causing insolvency 

that jeopardises the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Public administration, Italian government and regions 0.0% 0.3%

Ordinary customers 69.9% 66.1%

Financial institutions 0.0% 0.0%

Other debtors 30.1% 33.6%

Total exposure net of the allowance for impairment 100% 100%

0-180 180-360 360-720 over 720 Total

Public administration, Italian government and regions (gross) 5 13 0 1 1,004 1,023

Allowance for impairment (1) (1,004) (1,005)

Public administration, Italian government and regions 

(net) 
5 13 0 0 0 18

Ordinary customers (gross) 121,060 14,306 3,027 534 183 139,110

Allowance for impairment (1,676) (1,103) (427) (170) (3,376)

Ordinary customers (net) 119,384 14,306 1,924 107 13 135,734

Financial institutions 1 1

Other debtors (gross) 58,532 0 46 (123) 22 58,477

Allowance for impairment (154) (154)

Other debtors (net) 58,378 0 46 (123) 22 58,323

Total exposure net of the allowance for impairment 177,768 14,319 1,970 (16) 35 194,076

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016

Past due by
Not yet due

0-180 180-360 360-720 over 720 Total

Public administration, Italian government and regions (gross) 319 19 992 20 1,350

Allowance for impairment (793) (20) (813)

Public administration, Italian government and regions 

(net) 
319 19 0 199 0 537

Ordinary customers (gross) 123,498 2,924 324 290 3,458 130,494

Allowance for impairment (1,211) (175) (33) (974) (2,393)

Ordinary customers (net) 122,287 2,924 149 257 2,484 128,101

Financial institutions 1 1

Other debtors (gross) 57,587 6,914 844 53 15 65,413

Allowance for impairment (236) (236)

Other debtors (net) 57,351 6,914 844 53 15 65,177

Total exposure net of the allowance for impairment 179,958 9,857 993 509 2,499 193,816

Not yet due
Past due by

31.12.2015

in thousands of Euros
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Cash flows, cash requirements and the liquidity of group companies are generally monitored and centrally managed 

by the parent to ensure efficient and effective management of financial resources. 

As part of its group’s centralised cash pooling arrangement, Italferr has access to an overdraft facility in the intragroup 

current account at competitive conditions with respect to the market, and this enables it to cover the cash requirements 

of its operating activities. 

The following table shows the due dates of financial liabilities at 31 December 2016 and 2015, including interest to be 

paid:  

 

Market risk 

In the performance of its operations, the company is exposed to the risks of fluctuations in exchange rates and, to a 

lesser extent, fluctuations in interest rates. 

Currency risk 

The company is mainly active in Italy, although its growth on the international market has begun to expose Italferr to 

risks of fluctuations in exchange rates.  

The main contracts in foreign currency currently in Italferr’s backlog are those that it has been awarded in Saudi Arabia, 

Qatar, Uzbekistan and India. Except for the contract in Uzbekistan, which is in US dollars, the other contracts are all in 

local currency. However, because the currencies of the Gulf countries are indexed to the US dollar, the only currencies 

that the company must monitor are the US dollar and Indian rupee. 

The following table shows the notional value of Italferr’s exposure to currency risk at 31 December 2016, completing 

its disclosure in this respect. 

 

31.12.2015
Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

cash flows

up to 6 

months

6 - 12 

months

1 - 2 

years

2 - 5 

years

Over 5 

years

Trade payables 47,496 47,496 0

Construction contracts 61,045 61,045

Non-derivative financial liabilities 108,541 0 47,496 61,045 0 0 0

Cash flow hedges 1,165 1,165 1,165

Derivative financial liabilities 1,165 1,165 1,165 0 0 0 0

in thousands of Euros



Italferr S.p.A. 

 

2016 Annual Report                                                                                                                              64 

 

 

 

in foreign currency/thousands

31.12.2016

in foreign 

currency 

by Euros

Equivalent 

value in Euros

Exchange 

rate at 

31.12.2016

Trade 

receivables 

Trade 

payables 

Gross 

exposure in 

the 

statement 

of fin pos

Forex forwards 

(thousands of 

Euros)

Equivalent 

value in 

thousands of 

Euros

AED UAE dirham 3.87 (1) (1) (0)

AUD Australian dollar 1.96 (5) (5) (3)

BGN Bulgarian lev 1.96 (1) (1) (1)

DZD Algerian dinar 116.38 6,269 (2,202) 4,067 35

EGP Egyptian pound 19.21 (260) (260) (14)

ETB Ethiopian birr 23.73 838 (103) 735 31

INR Indian rupee 71.59 (448) (448) (6)

OMR Oman rial 0.41 1,031 (84) 947 2,337

PEN Peruvian nuevo sol 3.54 (6) (6) (2)

QAR Qatar riyal 3.84 13,974 (2,509) 11,465 2,988

RON Romanian new leu 4.54 797 (3,843) (3,046) (671)

SAR Saudi Arabian riyal 3.95 29,400 (6,168) 23,232 5,875

TRY Turkish lira 3.71 1 (263) (262) (71)

USD US dollar 1.05 477 (240) 237 225

VEF Venezuelan bolivar 10.50 (35) (35) (3)

0 10,720

Balance in foreign currency

Currency

in foreign currency/thousands

31.12.2015

in foreign 

currency 

by Euros

Equivalent 

value in Euros

Exchange 

rate at 

31.12.2015

Trade 

receivables  

Trade 

payables  

Gross 

exposure in 

the 

statement 

of fin pos 

Forex forwards 

(thousands of 

Euros)

Equivalent 

value in 

thousands of 

Euros

AED UAE dirham 4.00 (25) (25) (6)

CHF Swiss franc 1.08 (32) (32) (30)

DZD Algerian dinar 116.70 6,639 (806) 5,834 50

ETB Ethiopian birr 23.06 279 (474) (195) (8)

INR Indian rupee 72.02 (225) (225) (3)

OMR Oman rial 0.42 945 (651) 294 (1,165) (462)

PEN Peruvian nuevo sol 3.71 7 7 2

QAR Qatar riyal 3.96 2,633 (1,019) 1,614 407

RON Romanian new leu 4.52 797 (3,962) (3,165) (700)

SAR Saudi Arabian riyal 4.09 (10,058) (10,058) (2,461)

SYP Syrian pound 239.46 (1) (1) (0)

TRY Turkish lira 3.18 28 (184) (156) (49)

USD US dollar 1.09 1,018 (660) 358 329

VEF Venezuelan bolivar 6.86 (35) (35) (5)

(1,165) (2,936)

Balance in foreign currency

Currency
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Interest rate risk 

Italferr’s potential financial exposure in the performance of its operations is entirely with the parent and relates to trade 

transactions. Consequently, it is current and the company is not exposed to any interest rate risk on non-current loans 

and borrowings.  

Following the parent’s policies to optimise the cost of debt and as the European Central Bank (ECB) has kept official 

interest rates at minimum levels, Italferr has a credit line at extremely low interest rates that are sufficiently steady 

over time. Accordingly, its short-term exposure to the risk of fluctuations in interest rates is very low.  

 

Capital management  

The company’s objective with respect to capital risk management is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 

concern, while ensuring returns for shareholders and benefits for the other stakeholders. It also intends to maintain 

an optimal capital structure in order to reduce the cost of debt. 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities by category 

To complete financial risk information, the table below gives a reconciliation between financial assets and financial 

liabilities as reported in the statement of financial position and the categories of financial assets and financial liabilities 

identified pursuant to IFRS 7: 

 

 

31.12.2016
Loans and 

receivables
Liabilities

 of which                  

hedges

Non-current financial assets 1

Other non-current assets 456

Construction contracts 112,517

Current trade receivables 54,762

Current financial assets 0

Cash and cash equivalents 8,135

Tax assets 862

Other current assets 7,012

Current trade receivables 110,598

Other current liabilities 42,630

in thousands of Euros
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6 Property, plant and equipment  

The opening and closing balances of property, plant and equipment and changes therein are shown in the table below.  

The assets’ estimated useful lives did not change during the year.  

 

31.12.2015
Loans and 

receivables
Liabilities

 of which                  

hedges

Non-current financial assets 1

Other non-current assets 147

Construction contracts 114,557

Current trade receivables 73,573

Current financial assets 251

Cash and cash equivalents 4,786

Tax assets 2,033

Other current assets 5,353

Other non-current liabilities 115

Current trade receivables 108,540

Current financial liabilities (including 

derivatives) 
1,992 1,165

Other current liabilities 35,274

in thousands of Euros

in thousands of Euros

Land and 

buildings
Other assets

Assets under 

construction 

and payments 

on account

Total

Historical cost 25,495 26,596 127 52,218

Depreciation and impairment losses (2,166) (23,670) (25,836)

Balance at 1.1.2015 23,329 2,926 127 26,382

Investments 254 718 972

Transfers in the year 127 (127) 0

Depreciation (663) (1,417) (2,080)

Disposals and decreases (1) (1)

Other reclassifications (2) (2)

Total changes (409) (575) (127) (1,111)

Historical cost 25,749 27,320 53,069

Depreciation and impairment losses (2,829) (24,969) (27,798)

Balance at 31.12.2015 22,920 2,351 0 25,271

Investments 963 963

Depreciation (670) (1,406) (2,076)

Disposals and decreases¹ (48) (48)

Total changes (670) (491) 0 (1,161)

Historical cost 25,749 24,104 49,853

Depreciation and impairment losses (3,499) (22,244) 0 (25,743)

Balance at 31.12.2016 22,250 1,860 0 24,110



Italferr S.p.A. 

 

2016 Annual Report                                                                                                                              67 

 

 

 

Disposals mainly consisted of the sale of Muscat office equipment after the work on the contracts acquired in Oman 

was substantially completed (historical cost of €169 thousand, accumulated depreciation of €123 thousand and a loss 

on disposal of €6 thousand). 

Investments in the year mainly related to hardware (workstations, plotters, printers and switchboards totalling €863 

thousand), furniture and small office equipment (€100 thousand). 

At 31 December 2016, there are no mortgages or privileges on property, plant and equipment. The most significant 

item of property, plant and equipment is the property that the company uses as its registered and operating office, 

with a carrying amount of €18,808 thousand at 31 December 2016, net of accumulated depreciation.  

 

7 Intangible assets  

The opening and closing balances of intangible assets and changes therein are shown in the table below.  

in thousands of Euros

Disposals and decreases¹
Land and 

buildings
Other assets

Assets under 

construction 

and payments 

on account

Total

Historical cost (201) (201,032)

Depreciation 153 153,549

Total (48) (47,483)
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Investments in industrial patents and intellectual property rights entailed the acquisition/renewal of licences for 

software used by the company, while other investments were directed towards updating and customising the 

administration/management systems and to support the design and internal development of applications for 

management reporting, as detailed in the table below. 

 
 
 

8 Deferred tax assets and liabilities  

The table below shows deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2016 and changes of the year 

due to the main temporary differences between carrying amounts and the related tax amounts. 

in thousands of Euros

Industrial 

patents and 

intellectual 

property 

rights

Assets under 

development 

and payments 

on account

Other Total

Historical cost 9,329 416 17,288 27,033

Amortisation and impairment losses (8,632) (14,714) (23,346)

Balance at 1.1.2015 697 416 2,574 3,687

Investments 468 190 1,652 2,310

Transfers in the year (410) 410 0

Amortisation (525) (1,384) (1,909)

Total changes (57) (220) 678 401

Historical cost 9,797 196 19,350 29,343

Amortisation and impairment losses (9,157) 0 (16,098) (25,255)

Balance at 31.12.2015 640 196 3,252 4,088

Investments 481 219 1,204 1,904

Transfers in the year (193) 193 0

Amortisation (441) (1,680) (2,121)

Total changes 40 26 (283) (217)

Historical cost 10,278 222 20,747 31,247

Amortisation and impairment losses (9,598) 0 (17,778) (27,376)

Balance at 31.12.2016 680 222 2,969 3,871

in thousands of Euros

Investments in other intangible assets

Assets under 

development 

and payments 

on account

Other Total

Business Information Modelling (B.I.M.) 13 160 173

Reporting system for top management 35 153 188

Upgrades of accounting, management and document filing systems 83 785 868

Other 88 106 194

Total 219 1,204 1,423
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Changes in deferred tax assets mainly relate to amounts to be recovered on accruals to the provision for contractual 

risks and the provision for risks and charges. 

 

 
Equity investments  

The following table gives a breakdown of equity investments by category and showing changes in the year.  

 

Changes in the year entirely relate to the liquidation of Consorzio Brennero Ingegneria to achieve its consortium 

purpose. It was cancelled from the company register on 10 November 2016. 

The following tables: 

 list equity investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, comparing their carrying amounts 

and the company’s share of their equity; 

 summarise the financial statements highlights of the associates and jointly controlled entities. 

 

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2015

Incr.(Decr.) 

through profit or 

loss

Incr. / (Decr.) 

in OCI
31.12.2016

Measurement of financial instruments 464 (464) 0

Provisions per risks and charges and 

impairment subject to taxation on realisation
2,120 (446) 1,674

Other items 820 28 109 957

Deferred tax assets: 3,404 (418) (355) 2,631

Deferred taxes on unrealised exchange rate 

gains
(87) (108) 0 (195)

Deferred tax liabilities (87) (108) 0 (195)

Carrying 

amount at 

31.12.2016

Carrying 

amount at 

31.12.2015

Changes

Equity investments in: 351 357 (6)

Subsidiaries 350 350 0

Jointly controlled entities 1 1 0

Other companies 0 6 (6)

in thousands of Euros

Registered 

office

Quota 

capital

Profit for the 

year

Equity at 

31.12.2016

% of 

ownershi

p

Share of 

equity (a)

Carrying 

amount at 

31.12.2016 

(b)

         

Difference 

(b-a)

Equity investments in subsidiaries

I.E.S. Belgrade - Serbia 350 57 626 100% 626 350 (276)

Jointly controlled entities

Italferr - Altinok joint venture Istanbul - Turkey 1 1,146 1,146 50.1% 574 1 (573)

in thousands of Euros
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10 Current and non-current financial assets (including derivatives) 

The following table shows the composition of financial assets at 31 December 2016, compared to 31 December 2015: 

 

Loan assets with the parent amount to €22,344 thousand and reflect the balance of the intragroup current account 

used for collections and payments from/to the main group companies and to which the company’s bank current account 

balances are credited through daily cash pooling transactions. 

The collection of substantial receivables that fell due in 2016 and the shorter average collection times from the group 

have led to an improvement in cash flows and an increase in this caption on the previous year end.  

 

11 Other current and non-current assets 

These consist of the following: 

% of ownership
Current 

assets

Non-current 

assets
Total assets

Current 

liabilities

Non-

current 

liabilities

Total 

liabilities
Revenue Costs

Profit for 

the year

31.12.2016

Jointly controlled entities

Italferr - Altinok joint venture 50.1% 1,382 21 1,403 (257) (1,146) (1,403) 2,083 (937) 1,146

31.12.2015

Jointly controlled entities

Italferr - Altinok joint venture 50.1% 1,116 17 1,133 (704) (704) 1,788 (1,209) 579

in thousands of Euros

in thousands of Euros

Non-

current
Current Total

Non-

current
Current Total

Non-

current
Current Total

Joint venture loan assets 251 251 (251) (251)

Receivables from banks for attached amounts 1 1 1 1 0 0

Other financial assets 1 1 1 251 252 (251) (251)

 Intragroup current account 22,343 22,343 22,343 22,343

Total 1 22,343 22,344 1 251 252 0 22,092 22,092

Carrying amount 

Financial assets 

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change
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The tax consolidation asset of €2,949 thousand reflects the advances paid to the tax authorities for 2016 IRES 

(corporate income tax), net of current taxes. 

The current portion of sundry receivables (€796 thousand) consists of receivables from personnel and social security 

institutions (€250 thousand) and the foreign branches’ VAT assets (€519 thousand). This caption also includes tax 

assets for withholdings in Venezuela (€154 thousand), which were completely impaired as they are unlikely to be 

recovered.  

The non-current portion of sundry receivables mainly refers guarantee deposits paid to third parties for leases (€414 

thousand). 

Advances to suppliers (€1,927 thousand) are for engineering service engagements assigned to third parties and not 

yet completed.  

Other current and non-current assets are analysed by geographical segment below: 

 

 

12 Construction contracts  

These consist of the following:  

in thousands of Euros

Current
Non-

current
Total Current

Non-

current
Total Current

Non-

current
Total

Tax consolidation asset from parent 2,949 2,949 0 0 2,949 2,949

Other intragroup assets 326 326 195 195 131 0 131

VAT assets 65 65 65 65 0 0

Sundry receivables 796 456 1,252 582 147 729 214 309 523

Advances to suppliers 1,927 1,927 3,344 3,344 (1,417) (1,417)

Other tax assets 0 0 1 1 (1) (1)

Prepayments and accrued income - intragroup 0 0 4 4 (4) (4)

Prepayments and accrued income - third parties 1,103 1,103 1,398 1,398 (295) (295)

Total 7,166 456 7,622 5,589 147 5,736 1,577 309 1,886

Allowance for impairment (154) (154) (236) (236) 82 82

Total net of the allowance for impairment 7,012 456 7,468 5,353 147 5,500 1,659 309 1,968

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

Other current and non-current assets

in thousands of Euros

Current
Non-

current
Total Current

Non-

current
Total Current

Non-

current
Total

Italian 4,852 86 4,938 2,495 76 2,571 2,357 10 2,367

Eurozone 0 0 0

UK 0 0 0

Other European countries (non-Euro EU) 18 1 19 9 1 10 9 0 9

Other non-EU European countries 25 1 26 179 1 180 (154) 0 (154)

US 0 0 0

Other countries 2,117 368 2,485 2,670 69 2,739 (553) 299 (254)

Total 7,012 456 7,468 5,353 147 5,500 1,659 309 1,968

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

Other current and non-current assets
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The following table details work in progress, calculated as the sum of costs incurred and profits (losses) recognised, 

advances/payments on account and the allowance for inventory write-down, consisting of estimated expected future 

losses on contracts showing losses. 

 

 

13 Current and non-current trade receivables  

All trade receivables are current and detailed below: 

 

The decrease in trade receivables is mainly due to the collection of intragroup receivables as shorter average payment 

times on the part of counterparties. 

On the other hand, trade receivables relating to the non-captive market increased on the previous year end, mainly 

because the payment terms of the Saudi Public Investment Fund and Oman Railways were longer. Negotiations are 

in thousands of Euros

Receivables Payables Net Receivables Payables Net

RFI 84,280 (78,885) 5,395 89,722 (57,051) 32,671

Other intragroup 3,720 (964) 2,756 2,958 (528) 2,430

Other customers 24,517 (3,630) 20,887 21,877 (3,466) 18,411

Total 112,517 (83,479) 29,038 114,557 (61,045) 53,512

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

in thousands of Euros

Work in 

progress

Advances 

and 

payments 

Provision for 

contractual 

risks

Net 

exposure

Work in 

progress

Advances 

and 

payments 

Provision for 

contractual 

risks

Net 

exposure

RFI 1,321,697 (1,313,926) (2,376) 5,395 1,268,477 (1,233,384) (2,422) 32,671

Other intragroup 19,311 (16,446) (109) 2,756 21,043 (18,567) (46) 2,430

Other customers 129,407 (108,169) (351) 20,887 123,773 (105,030) (332) 18,411

Total 1,470,415 (1,438,541) (2,836) 29,038 1,413,293 (1,356,981) (2,800) 53,512

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

Third party customers 24,452 14,597 9,855

Government authorities and other public administration 1,019 1,350 (331)

Intragroup assets 31,996 59,483 (27,487)

Other intragroup trade receivables 0 138 (138)

Total 57,467 75,568 (18,101)

Allowance for impairment (2,705) (1,995) (710)

Total net of the allowance for impairment 54,762 73,573 (18,811)
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underway with these parties and should soon lead to the complete recovery of the amounts due, which total €2,356 

thousand. 

The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk, broken down by geographical segment: 

 

 

 

14 Cash and cash equivalents 

These consist of the following:  

 

The increase in bank current account balances is mainly due to collections near the end of the year in Qatar and Perù. 

The following table gives a breakdown of the net financial position: 

 

  

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

Italian 37,482 64,592 (27,110)

Eurozone 362 362

Other European countries (non-Euro EU) 3,217 (3,217)

Other non-EU European countries 452 8 444

Other countries 19,171 7,751 11,420

Total 57,467 75,568 (18,101)

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

Bank and postal accounts 8,116 4,775 3,341

Cash and cash equivalents 19 11 8

Total 8,135 4,786 3,349

in thousands of Euros

Net financial position 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

Non-current financial assets 1 1 0

Non-current net financial position 1 1 0

Current financial assets 251 (251)

Cash and cash equivalents 8,135 4,786 3,349

Intragroup current account 22,343 (826) 23,169

Current net financial position 30,478 4,211 26,267

Total 30,479 4,212 26,267
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15 Tax assets 

 
 

Tax assets refer to IRAP (regional tax on productive activities) of €861 thousand, generated by the difference between 

taxes of the year and advances paid.  

 

16 Equity 

Changes in the main equity captions in 2016 and 2015 are analysed in the table at the beginning of these notes. 

Share capital 

The company’s entirely subscribed and paid-up share capital at 31 December 2016 consists of 14,186 ordinary shares 

with a nominal amount of €1,000 each, for a total of €14,186,000. 

Legal reserve: this reserve did not change during the year, as in 2007 it reached the legal minimum of 20% of share 

capital and amounts to €2,837 thousand; 

Extraordinary reserve: this reserve amounts to €26,747 thousand, showing a slight increase on the previous year 

end due to the undistributed portion of the profit for 2015; 

Other reserves. These consist of the following: 

 Reserve as per art. 13 of Leg. decree no. 124/1993 (€33 thousand): this reserve includes the portions of net profit 

for the year accrued up on 2000 and equal to 3% of post-employment benefits transferred to complementary 

pension schemes. Pursuant to article 13.6 of Legislative decree no. 124/1993 an amount not exceeding 3% of the 

annual accrual of post-employment benefits transferred to complementary pension funds was deductible for 

income tax purposes, provided that the deductible amount was accrued in a specific equity reserve. Article 13.6 

was repealed with article 3.1.c).1 of Legislative decree no. 47/2000; 

 Reserve for exchange rate gains (€226 thousand): this reserve includes net unrealised exchange rate gains which, 

pursuant to article 2426.8-bis of the Italian Civil Code, must be taken to a non-distributable reserve until they are 

realised; 

Actuarial reserve: this reserve has a negative balance of €4,272 thousand and includes the actuarial losses on 

employee benefits taken directly to equity, net of the €1,485 thousand tax effect. 

 

Retained earnings: this reserve amounts to €3,594 thousand. It was set up in 2010 upon the first-time adoption of 

the IFRS and includes the adjustments to the opening balances (1 January 2009) of post-employment benefits, the 

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

IRAP 861 2,124 (1,263)

IRES 1 1

Total 862 2,124 (1,262)
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Free Travel Card and non-current assets, net of the related tax effect, as well as the change in the profit for 2009 due 

to the restatement of balances for first-time adoption of the IFRS. 

 

Profit for the year 

The profit for 2016 from continuing operations amounts to €8,117 thousand. 

The following table shows the origin, availability and possibility of distribution of equity captions, along with their use 

in the past three years: 

 
A) To increase share capital 
B) To cover losses 
C) For dividends 

 

17 Post-employment benefits and other employee benefits 

This caption totals €29,112 thousand and is broken down as follows: 

 

 

The following table shows changes in the present value of the liability for defined employee benefit obligations: 

 

in thousands of Euros

Share 

capital 

increase

Coverage 

of losses
Dividends

Other 

(specify)

Share capital 14,186 14,186

Income-related reserves:

Legal reserve 2,837 2,837

Extraordinary reserve 26,747 26,747 A,B,C

Reserve as per art. 13 Leg. decree no. 

124/93
33 33 B

Reserve for exchange rate gains 226 226

IFRS reserve (4,272) (4,272)

Retained earnings 3,594 3,594

TOTAL 43,351 16,571 26,780 0 0 0 0 0

Origin

Balance at 

31.12.2016 

(a+b)

Unavailable 

portion       

(a)

Available 

portion (b)

Possibility 

of use

Summary of use in the past three years

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015

Present value of post-employment benefit obligations 28,826 29,375

Present value of Free Travel Card obligations 286 276

Total present value of obligations 29,112 29,651
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The actuarial losses (€458 thousand), with a balancing entry in equity, are due to the actuarial measurement of post-

employment benefits and Free Travel Card benefits considering the current number of employees, using the vested 

benefit approach and the projected unit credit methods, as provided for by paragraphs 67-69 of IAS 19. 

The utilisation of the provision (€1,314 thousand) was almost entirely due to payments to employees who left the 

company in the year, advances and transfers to other group companies.  

 

Actuarial assumptions 

The main assumptions for the actuarial estimate process are described below:  

 

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Defined benefit obligations at 1 January 29,651 31,529

Service cost 9 8

Interest cost (1) 308 359

Actuarial (gains) losses recognised in equity 458 (1,151)

Advances/utilisations and other changes (1,314) (1,094)

Total defined benefit obligations 29,112 29,651

(1) through profit or loss 

2016 2015

Discount rate - post-employment benefits 0.86% 1.39%

Discount rate - Free Travel Card 1.31%

2016 annual rate of increase - post-employments benefits 2.62% 2.62%

2017 annual rate of increase - post-employments benefits 2.85%

2018-2019 annual rate of increase - post-employments benefits 2.77%

2020-on annual rate of increase - post-employments benefits 3.00%

2016 inflation rate - post-employments benefits 1.50%

2017 inflation rate - post-employments benefits 1.80%

2018-19 inflation rate - post-employments benefits 1.70%

2020-on inflation rate - post-employments benefits 2.00%

2016 inflation rate - Free Travel Card 1.50%

2017 inflation rate - Free Travel Card 1.80%

2018-19 inflation rate - Free Travel Card 1.70%

2020-on inflation rate - Free Travel Card 2.00%

Expected rate of employee turnover 3.00%

Expected rate of advances 2.00%

Mortality rate RG48 mortality table published by RGS

Incapacity INPS tables broken down by age and sex

Pension age

100% once the requirements of the mandatory 

general insurance have been met



Italferr S.p.A. 

 

2016 Annual Report                                                                                                                              77 

 

 

The results of sensitivity analyses are reported below, showing the effects that would have been recorded in terms of 

changes in the present value of liabilities for defined benefit obligations, following reasonably possible changes in 

actuarial assumptions, as well as the average duration of the defined benefit obligations and the disbursements 

provided by the plan.  

 

 

18 Provisions for risks and charges 

The following table shows the composition of the provisions for risks and charges, opening and closing balances and 

changes in the year.  

 

The provision for “Employee bonuses to be defined” shows a nil balance at year end, because the FS Italiane group 

company contract renewal agreement was signed on 16 December 2016, integrating the national labour agreement. 

This agreement provides for, inter alia, the payment of performance bonuses on 2013-2016 results and a contractual 

holiday indemnity.  

The provision for “litigation with third parties” was set up to cover risks of the company losing pending lawsuits. It was 

adjusted according to the estimate of probable contingent liabilities. 

It also includes, inter alia, the estimated liabilities that could arise for the company following its dispute with the 

Piedmont Regional Court of Auditors Public Prosecutor concerning the alleged undue payment of approximately €25 

million to ATI S.p.A., which was awarded the contract for the construction of the Turin hub railway bypass.  

Post-

employment 

benefits

Free Travel 

Card

0.25% increase in rate of inflation 29,117,464 307,694

0.25% decrease in rate of inflation 28,538,921 266,182

0.25% increase in discount rate 28,364,978 277,380

0.25% decrease in discount rate 29,300,664 295,837

1% increase in rate of employee turnover 28,703,518

1% decrease in rate of employee turnover 28,960,393

Duration of plan 7 15

Year 1 benefits 2,414,724 10,409

Year 2 benefits 2,295,294 11,103

Year 3 benefits 2,169,570 11,873

Year 4 benefits 3,670,453 12,983

Year 5 benefits 2,819,904 14,084

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2015 Accruals Utilisations 

Release 

of over-

accruals

31.12.2016

Litigation with employees 988 (100) (205) 683

Litigation with third parties 1,430 727 205 2,362

Employee bonuses to be defined 3,217 1,036 (4,253) 0

Total - non-current 5,635 1,763 (4,353) 0 3,045
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Although the Public Prosecutor’s allegations have already been refuted from a legal standpoint, demonstrating the 

complete inadmissability of the charges against Italferr, on 24 February 2016, the same Public Prosecutor summoned 

Italferr to court. The hearing was held on 19 July 2016 and the Court of Auditors has suspended further hearings 

following the appearants’ petition to be heard by the Court of Cassation.  

The provision for “litigation with employees” decreased on the previous year end (-€305 thousand) after certain cases 

were settled in the company’s favour for roughly €205 thousand and other cases were concluded in the counterparties’ 

favour, entailing utilizations in the year, including for coverage of the related costs.  

 

 

19 Other current and non-current liabilities 

 

“Other tax liabilities” (€2,612 thousand) includes the withholdings applied to employees and freelancers to be 

transferred to the tax authorities. 

“Other liabilities” include amounts due to employees for remuneration accrued but not paid (€7,667 thousand), up 

€4,307 thousand on the previous year end, especially due to the agreement for the renewal of the company’s labour 

contract integrating the national labour agreement, which, as indicated previously in the note to the Provisions for risks 

and charges, entailed the payment of performance bonuses for 2013-2016 results and the contractual holiday 

indemnity. Since the agreement was signed in mid-December, the amounts were actually paid in January.  

“Social security charges payable” (€11,558 thousand) increased €1,824 thousand on 2015 due to charges on the 

additional remuneration resulting from the renewal of the national labour agreement and to the rise in payables to 

Inarcassa (the national pension and welfare fund for freelance engineers and architects). Payables to Inarcassa include 

the extra contribution due to the fund and equal to 4% of freelance engineers’ fees for services provided in Italy. These 

fees grew by 17% on 2015 and the extra contributions increased proportionately (+€839 thousand, equal to +17%) 

VAT liabilities of €15,114 thousand are due to monthly VAT liquidations in the fourth quarter of 2016. The increase is 

the result of higher turnover in the fourth quarter of 2016 than in the previous year. 

 

 

 

 

in thousands of Euros

current
Non- 

current
Total current

Non- 

current
Total current

Non- 

current
Total

Other tax liabilities 2,611 2,611 2,547 2,547 64 64

Social security charges payable 11,558 11,558 9,734 9,734 1,824 1,824

VAT liabilities 15,114 15,114 11,468 11,468 3,646 3,646

Other liabilities 13,170 13,170 8,675 115 8,790 4,495 (115) 4,380

Accrued expenses and deferred income 177 177 145 145 32 32

Total 42,630 0 42,630 32,569 115 32,684 10,061 (115) 9,946

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Differences
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20 Current and non-current trade payables   

All the company’s trade payables are current and are detailed below by counterparty: 

 
 

The following table details intragroup trade receivables by counterparty: 
 

 
 

21 Tax liabilities 

These consist of the following: 

 

At 31 December 2016, there are no tax liabilities, as the difference between income taxes and advances paid in the 

year is positive and recognised under “Other current and non-current assets” in the statement of financial position.  

 

22 Current and non-current financial liabilities (including derivatives) 

At 31 December 2016 Italferr has no financial liabilities as the last forward contract hedging Omani currency risk 

ended in September 2016. 

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

Trade payables 19,546 28,911 (9,365)

Intragroup trade payables 7,573 18,584 (11,011)

Total 27,119 47,495 (20,376)

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

Ferrovie dello Stato Italiane 2,541 6,378 (3,837)

Bus Italia - Rail Service 87 93 (6)

Fercredit 214 (214)

Ferservizi 1,680 4,172 (2,492)

FS Patrimonio Immobiliare 126 126

FS Sistemi Urbani 23 93 (70)

GS Immobiliare 583 583

GS Rail (1) 94 1,096 (1,002)

I.E.S. 304 59 245

Metropark 0 5 (5)

RFI 1,039 3,832 (2,793)

Trenitalia 1,096 2,642 (1,546)

Total 7,573 18,584 (11,011)

(1) Named Grandi Stazioni S.p.A. in 2015

in thousands of Euros

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

IRES 0 2,700 (2,700)

Total 0 2,700 (2,700)
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Accordingly, the change in the year is as follows: 

 

 

23 Revenue from sales and services 

This caption is detailed in the tables and notes below.  

 

Revenue from engineering services to the group companies increased with the completion of a few contracts, the 

largest of which entailed the completion of the HS/HC Treviglio – Brescia section of the railway line and new design 

contracts received from RFI as part of the works under the “Get Italy Moving” decree, such as the the definitive design 

of the Cancello – Frasso section of the HS/HC Naples – Bari line and the variations to definitive designs for the Bicocca 

– Catenanuova and Catenanuova – Raddusa sections of the Messina – Catania – Palermo route. 

Revenue on the international market also grew compared to 2015, especially due to the completion of Omani railway 

projects and new contracts acquired in Qatar and Uzbekistan. 

 

24 Other income  

Other income is detailed in the table below: 

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 Change

Financial liabilities

Hedging financial instruments 1,165 (1,165)

Intragroup current account 826 (826)

Total 0 1,991 (1,991)

in thousands of Euros

Revenue
Change in 

WIP

Prov. for 

contr. risks
Total (a) Revenue

Change in 

WIP

Prov. for 

contr. 

risks

Total (b)

RFI 72,414 53,220 46 125,680 34,017 88,942 534 123,493 2,187

Other intragroup 4,458 (1,731) (62) 2,665 423 4,112 (46) 4,489 (1,824)

Intragroup 76,872 51,489 (16) 128,345 34,440 93,054 488 127,982 363

Italian and EU 

third parties
4,476 1,599 (19) 6,056 790 7,547 0 8,337 (2,281)

Non-EU third 

parties
33,815 4,035 37,850 5,383 25,162 (235) 30,310 7,540

Third parties 38,291 5,634 (19) 43,906 6,173 32,709 (235) 38,647 5,259

Total 115,163 57,123 (35) 172,251 40,613 125,763 253 166,629 5,622

Changes 

(a-b)

2016 2015
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Revenue for training (€26 thousand) relates to training courses that Italferr organised and sold to third parties and to 

the associate RFI. 

Revenue and other sundry income include, inter alia, recharges of €113 thousand for shared costs and the use of office 

space abroad by Italferr’s partners in international contracts. This caption also includes income of €41 thousand for 

supplier vetting and the sale of call for bid documents. 

 

 

25 Personnel expense 

Personnel expense is detailed in the table below: 

 

Approximately 43% of the increase in this caption is due to the growth in the average number of employees, as shown 

in the table below, while the remainder of the increase is due to permanent employees who received overtime pay and 

termination incentives. 

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Training 26 30 (4)

Gains 1 1

Fines for breach by third parties 10 13 (3)

Prior year income adjusting revenue 0 0

Revenue and other income 176 111 65

Total 213 154 59

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Wages and salaries 54,595 53,225 1,370

Social security charges 15,276 14,888 388

Other expense for employees 6,889 5,080 1,809

Post-employment benefits 3,851 3,814 37

Free Travel Card service costs 8 8 0

Accruals and releases for employees 1,036 1,634 (598)

Employees 81,655 78,649 3,006

Wages and salaries 97 767 (670)

Social security charges 26 123 (97)

Consultants and freelancers 123 890 (767)

Temporary, seconded and work experience staff 4,383 3,769 614

Other personnel expense 1,358 1,543 (185)

Other costs 5,741 5,312 429

 Total 87,519 84,851 2,668
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Other personnel costs rose as a result of the higher cost of temporary staff, as their numbers grew, with a greater 

percentage of more expensive professional temporary workers in 2016 than in the previous year.  

 

 

26 Raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods 

They amount to €371 thousand and include costs incurred to purchase consumables, small office devices, small 

equipment and IT material of negligible value. The change on the previous year is illustrated in the table below. 

 

 

27 Services 

They grew by approximately 10% on the previous year and consist of the following: 

 

                average FTE

2016 2015 Change

Managers 61 60 1

Junior managers 630 618 12

White collars 440 439 1

Total employees 1,131 1,117 14

Temporary staff 91 81 10

Freelancers 1 8 (7)

Total flexible staff 92 89 3

 Total 1,223 1,206 17

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Materials and consumables 371 396 (25)

Total 371 396 (25)

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Engineering services 32,152 28,103 4,049

Administrative and IT services 6,412 6,228 184

Travel and accommodations 5,856 5,766 90

Facilities 3,768 4,084 (316)

Professional services 2,698 1,362 1,336

Utilities 1,052 1,352 (300)

Insurance 1,429 925 504

External communications and advertising 137 158 (21)

Maintenance, cleaning and other contracted services 68 45 23

Other 1,963 2,529 (566)

Total 55,535 50,552 4,983
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The €4,049 thousand increase in engineering services is mainly due to the archaeological and environmental 

explorations in connection with RFI contracts and support services in Saudi Arabia as the design contract with the 

Saudi Railways begins completion.  

“Professional services” include legal, administrative and labour law services. The increase in this caption on the previous 

year is mostly due to the fee paid to Cowi for the management of the Cowi-Italferr-Oneworks joint venture as part of 

the project for the Doha underground’s Red Line. The fee is calculated as a percentage of revenue. 

“Other” includes, inter alia, costs for services provided by the parent, consisting of administrative, tax and legal support, 

audit, financial and communication services and assistance with international operations (€1,219 thousand).  

 

 

28 Use of third-party assets  

These costs are detailed in the table below: 

 

Leases entirely relate to third party properties. The decrease on the previous year was mainly caused by the temporary 

suspension of the lease of additional space for the Rome offices, the lower rents charged for the housing of employees 

assigned to the EXPO2015 and the contract in Oman, partly offset by the increase in costs for the Riyadh compound 

as design activities there have grown on the previous year. 

“Hires and other” include car hire costs of €1,215 thousand and royalties for the use of the FS Italiane brand (€508 

thousand), in accordance with the licence to use the parent’s brand in Italy and abroad. 

 

29 Other operating costs 

Other operating costs are detailed in the table below:  

 

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Lease payments, condominium expenses and registration 

tax 2,742 2,819 (77)

Hires and other 1,824 1,913 (89)

Total 4,566 4,732 (166)

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Contribution for Free Travel Card for leisure use 764 765 (1)

Local property and waste disposal taxes 299 299 0

Membership fees 119 132 (13)

Entertainment expenses 11 31 (20)

Other taxes and duties 3 17 (14)

Other 207 511 (304)

Losses 5 0 5

Accruals and releases 727 171 556

Total 2,135 1,926 209
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The increase in this caption is exclusively due to the accrual to the provision for litigation with third parties to cover 

liabilities considered probable based on the pending assessment of judges (€727 thousand). On the other hand, other 

costs decreased (-€304 thousand) mainly because, in 2015, this caption included the costs of ten young Omani 

engineers (€258 thousand), who were employees of the Omani Ministry of Communications and Transport and 

participated in the training project organised by Italferr. 

 

30 Amortisation and depreciation  

This caption is detailed below: 

 

Reference should be made to notes 6 and 7 for details on changes in non-current assets during the year. 

 

31 Impairment losses/(reversals of impairment losses)  

This caption is detailed below: 

 

This caption reflects the year-end adjustment of the allowance for impairment based on the estimated recoverability 

of outstanding receivables.  

 

32 Financial income 

Financial income is detailed in the table below: 

 

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Amortisation 2,121 1,909 212

Depreciation 2,076 2,080 (4)

Total 4,197 3,989 208

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Impairment losses on receivables 1,369 17 1,352

Total 1,369 17 1,352

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Sundry financial income 585 5 580

Financial income on derivatives 37 0 37

Exchange rate gains 1,704 1,438 266

Total 2,326 1,443 883
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“Other financial income” includes, inter alia, the portion of the 2015 dividends from the Italferr/Altinok joint venture 

(€192 thousand) and the portion of default interest (€370 thousand) invoiced to the Romanian railways (CFR) in 

previous year and accrued at that time in a specific allowance for impairment, but then collected in December 2016. 

Financial income on derivatives is due to the positive spread between the forward rates at the date when contracts 

were signed and the spot rates at the contractual maturities, which generated gains of €37 thousand. 

 

33 Financial expense 

Financial expense is detailed in the table below:  

 

This caption shows an overall increase of €707 thousand on the previous year, mainly due to the rise in financial 

expense on derivatives (€792 thousand) because of the spread on the forward rates of contracts hedging Omani 

currency risk, which generated a loss of €1,636 thousand. 

“Other financial expense” includes interest expense on the intragroup current account held with the parent, totalling 

€62 thousand. 

 

34 Income taxes, including current and deferred 

The table below details income taxes: 

 
 

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Financial expense on payables 12 0 12

Financial expense for employee benefits 309 359 (50)

Financial expense on derivatives 1,636 845 791

Sundry financial expense 82 116 (34)

Exchange rate losses 806 818 (12)

Total 2,845 2,138 707

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

IRAP 1,230 1,108 122

IRES 4,531 6,280 (1,749)

Current foreign taxes 1,438 1,793 (355)

Deferred tax income and expense 526 213 313

Deferred foreign tax income and expense 0

Adjustments for income taxes relative to prior years 411 (97) 508

Accruals and releases

Total 8,136 9,297 (1,161)
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Current foreign taxes refer to the portion of income taxes, mainly generated in Saudi Arabia, Ethiopia and Peru, and 

substitute tax paid in Algeria and not recovery in the Italian tax return.  

Net deferred tax income includes €1,037 thousand in reversals of IRES tax assets of previous years, offset by deferred 

tax expense of €108 thousand on unrealised profits, which are in turn net of deferred tax income (€619 thousand), 

mainly relating to accruals to the provisions for risks and the allowance for impairment.  

Adjustments for income taxes relative to previous years are mainly generated by higher income taxes in Saudi Arabia 

when the local tax return is prepared (€213 thousand) and the recovery in Italy of less taxes paid in Oman than was 

expected (€127 thousand). 

 

Reconciliation of the actual tax rate 

 

 

35 Contingent assets and liabilities 

The company has not recognised any contingent assets. However, it discloses contingent liabilities in connection with 

the disputes described below. It has not recognised accruals for these contingent liabilities because it believes that its 

risk of losing the disputes is only possible.  

 

 

Amount % Amount %

Profit for the year 8,117 10,328

Total income taxes 8,136 9,297

Pre-tax profit 16,253 19,625

Theoretical IRES (national tax rate) 4,470 27.50% 5,397 27.50%

Lower taxes

Other decreases (1,305) -8.03% (654) -3.33%

Greater taxes

Accruals to provisions 494 3.04% 561 2.86%

Prior year expense 198 1.22% 58 0.30%

Lower deferred tax income due to decrease in IRES rate as 

from 2017
85 0.52% 411 2.09%

Other increases 589 3.62% 507 2.58%

Total current taxes (IRES) 4,531 27.88% 6,280 32.00%

IRAP 1,230 7.57% 1,108 5.65%

Foreign taxes 1,438 8.85% 1,793 9.14%

Difference on estimated prior year taxes 411 2.53% (97) -0.49%

Total deferred tax 526 3.24% 213 1.09%

Total 8,136 50.06% 9,297 57.20%

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015
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CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS  

The civil proceedings to which the company is party are detailed below: 

  Le.di. sas summoned RFI and Italferr, claiming compensation for damage due to non-payment of sub-contractor 

fees. It is presumable that the customer, RFI, will pay the damages; 

 Consorzio Stabile T &T summoned RFI and Italferr, claiming compensation for damages on the grounds of the 

illegitimacy and illicitness of contract termination to the contractor’s detriment. It is presumable that the customer, 

RFI, will pay the damages; 

 In 2016, the Lazio Regional Tax Department began a tax inspection on Italferr, covering 2011 IRAP. The inspection 

was completed on 29 September 2016 with the preparation of the preliminary assessment report on which basis, 

on 15 December 2016, the company received a notice of assessment challenging the tax treatment of the 

contribution due to Trenitalia for the free transport of Free Travel Card holders and ordering the taxation of such 

contribution for IRAP purposes. 

Italferr appealed against the notice of assessment, asking the Rome Provincial Tax Commission to find it illegitimate 

and void.  

 

 

36 Audit fees 

Pursuant to article 37.16 of Legislative Decree no. 39/2010 and letter 16-bis of article 2427 of the Italian Civil Code, 

the total fees due to the independent auditors are €63 thousand, including the fees paid for services other than the 

legally-required audit (€5 thousand). 

 

 

37 Directors’ and statutory auditors’ fees 

The following fees were paid to directors and statutory auditors for the performance of their duties: 

 
 

Directors’ fees include all amounts envisaged for the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, as well as any 

performance-based amounts, according to the arrangement.  

This caption also includes the fees for the remaining directors.  

In addition to the directors’ and statutory auditors’ fees, the independent member of the Supervisory Body received 

fees of €30 thousand for 2016. 

  

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015 Change

Directors (*) 119 84 35

Statutory auditors 41 41 0

Total 160 125 35
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38 Management and coordination 

 
 

 

39 Related parties 

Related parties have been identified in accordance with IAS 24. 

Transactions with key managers 

The general conditions that govern transactions with key managers and the parties related to them are not more 

favourable than those applied, or that could have been reasonably applied, to similar transactions with managers other 

than key managers associated to the same entities at market conditions. 

The benefits paid and vested in 2016 to key managers’ fees are as follows: 

31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Assets

Total non-current assets 41,564,011       42,266,930       

Total current assets 4,728,355         2,620,140         

Assets held for sale and disposal groups

Total assets 46,292,366     44,887,070     

Equity 

Share capital 36,340,433       38,790,425       

Reserves (99,643) 305,732             

Retained earnings (losses carried forward) -                     (2,844,937)

Profit for the year 137,380             89,212               

Total equity 36,378,170     36,340,433     

Liabilities 

Total non-current liabilities 6,569,168         6,842,047         

Total current liabilities 3,345,029         1,704,591         

Total liabilities 9,914,197       8,546,638       

Total equity and liabilities 46,292,366     44,887,070     

2015 2014

Revenue 146,961 148,015

Operating costs 145,146 142,305

Amortisation and depreciation 23,672 21,639

Net impairment losses 13,300 6,228

Provisions 2,969

Net financial income 176,921 115,038

Income taxes 1,415 3,669

Profit for the year 137,380          89,212             

in thousands of Euros
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Other related party transactions 

The main transactions between the company and its related parties, which were all carried out on an arm’s length 

basis, are described below.  

 

in thousands of Euros

2016 2015

Short-term benefits (*) 1,366 1,574

Post-employment benefits 97 106

Total 1,463 1,680

(*) This amount does not include the variable benefits to be paid in 2017 which should not exceed

      approximately €250 thousand, once assessments of the achievement of group targets 

      have been completed

Name Receivables Payables

Subsidiaries

I.E.S. d.o.o. Trade and other: services

Italferr - Altinok joint venture Trade; Financial: shareholder loans

Parent 

Trade and other: services; funding of 

training

Trade and other: services and trademark 

use; group VAT; guarantees

Financial: intragroup current account Financial: intragroup current account

Other companies 

BBT Trade and other: services  

Busitalia Rail Service Trade and other: services

Centostazioni Trade and other: leases

Ferservizi Trade and other: leases and services

Fercredit Trade and other: factoring

FS Sistemi Urbani Trade and other: engineering services Trade and other: leases 

Financial: guarantee deposits

Grandi Stazioni Rail Trade and other: engineering services Trade and other: leases

Grandi Stazioni Immobiliare Trade and other: leases

Italcertifer Trade and other: engineering services

TELT Sas Trade and other: services  

Metropark Trade and other: services

Trade and other: engineering services, 

lease payments.
Trade and other: leases and services  

Financial: guarantee deposits 

Trenitalia Trade and other: engineering services Trade and other: services

Ferrovie dello Stato Italiane

RFI
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The following table summarises financial statements balances as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 resulting 

from related party transactions. 

Trade and other transactions: 

 

 

 

 

Name Receivables Payables

Other related parties

Alleanza Assicurazioni Trade and other: employee benefits

AMUNDI (pension fund) Trade and other: employee benefits

ANAS Trade and other: services

ENI Trade and other: services

Eurofer Trade and other: employee benefits

EXPO2015 Trade and other: engineering services

Gruppo Enel Trade and other: services

HDI Assicurazioni Trade and other: employee benefits

Mediolanum Vita Trade and other: employee benefits

Poste group Trade and other: services

Previndai Trade and other: employee benefits

in thousands of Euros

Parent

Ferrovie dello Stato Italiane 3,845 (17,777) (1,966) 75

Subsidiaries

I.E.S. doo 0 (304) (456) 0

Other associates

BBT 465

Busitalia Rail Service (87) (87)

Ferservizi (1,680) (4,321)

FS Sistemi Urbani (23) (76)

Grandi Stazioni Rail 196 (94) (294) 164

Grandi Stazioni Immobiliare (583) (455)

Italcertifer 79

Metropark (6)

RFI 116,370 (80,230) (349) 125,699

Trenitalia 3,536 (1,520) (1,311) 2,488

TOTAL 120,646 (84,521) 0 0 (7,355) 128,351

2016

Receivables Payables Guarantees Commitments Costs Revenue

31.12.2016
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Financial transactions: 

 

 

 

40 Guarantees and commitments 

The company has neither issued nor received collateral. However, it has issued the following sureties to group 

companies and third parties as guarantees: 

 sureties of €15,425 thousand, including €313 thousand granted by the parent to RFI (formerly TAV) for advances 

received on HS/HC contracts, and €15,000 thousand to guarantee currency risk hedging derivatives. In addition, 

it issued a €40 thousand surety to ENPAIA to guarantee leases and €72 thousand in connection with disputes 

pending with the tax authorities;  

 bid bonds in the form of bank sureties of €24,783 thousand to other parties in order to participate in calls for bids 

or for the payment of advances and performance bonds. 

In turn, Italferr received performance bonds for awarded contracts in the form of sureties of €19,892 thousand.  

 

 

in thousands of Euros

Other related parties

ENI (5) (15)

Eurofer (196)

EXPO2015 1,053

ANAS group (10) (10)

ENEL group (3) (24) 5

HDI Assicurazioni (8)

Mediolanum Vita (1)

Pioneer Invest. (1)

Previndai (282)

TOTAL 1,053 (506) 0 0 (49) 5

31.12.2016 2016

Receivables Payables Guarantees Commitments Costs Revenue

in thousands of Euros

 Parent 

 Ferrovie dello Stato Italiane 22,343 (15,425) (62) 20

 Other associates 

 RFI 15,425

TOTAL 22,343 0 0 0 (62) 20

31.12.2016 2016

Receivables Payables Guarantees Commitments Costs Income
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41 Events after the reporting period 

In February 2017, Italferr was summoned to court by the aggrieved parties (Ministry of the Environment and Ministry 

of Infrastructure), as jointly and severally liable with its employees and company officers charged in the criminal 

proceedings no. 25816/10 general register of crimes mentioned in the introduction. The parties have not yet quantified 

the alleged damages, nor have they provided sufficient information to estimate them.  

As illustrated in the directors’ report, since the proceedings are still in the initial stages, no evidence has arisen that 

would suggest that company is exposed to significant liabilities or losses of a material amount and no information is 

known with a potential material impact on the company’s financial position or results of operations.  

 

 

42 Proposed allocation of the profit for the year  

The company’s financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 show a profit for the year of 

€8,117,126.26. 

We propose: 

 distributing a dividend of €7,695,905, or €542.50 to each of the 14,186 shares; 

 allocating €418,279.86 to the reserve for unrealised exchange gains to adjust the total amount of the reserve to 

cover net unrealised exchange rate gains, which amount to €644,035.86 at 31 December 2016. The reserve is 

required pursuant to article 2426.8-bis of the Italian Civil Code, which establishes that, should the translation of 

foreign currency amounts at closing rates generate a net gain, a specific non-distributable reserve must be 

recognised for the net gain until its realisation; 

 allocating the residual profit for the year, equal to €2,941.40, to the extraordinary reserve. 
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